

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Relationship Between Teachers' Concerns Toward Data Meetings and Student Achievement

Nelson Brown Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Nelson Brown

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Markus Berndt, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Irene McAfee, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Beate Baltes, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Relationship Between Teachers' Concerns Toward Data Meetings and Student

Achievement

by

Nelson Brown

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

June 2018

Abstract

Schools that employ data-driven instructional techniques and policies also tend to employ data meetings, in which teachers and other stakeholders exchange ideas, form agendas, and otherwise, apply data-derived insights that result in pedagogical action. The problem investigated in this study was that the local district has not yet measured the effectiveness of these data meetings. The purpose of this correlational study was to measure the relationship between teachers' concerns about data meetings and students' performance in math as measured by the change scores on the Standardized Test for the Assessment of Reading (STAR) test in a North Alabama school. The theoretical framework was Astin's student engagement theory, which hypothesizes that students' academic improvements are caused by a link between higher levels of teacher concern related to key aspects of pedagogy and student engagement. A linear regression was conducted to measure the relationship between the concerns of 53 teachers regarding data meetings and the change scores of their students on the STAR math test from one year to the next. The results indicated a significant (p < .05) positive correlation between teachers' concerns about data meetings and STAR math test scores, with variation in readiness associated with 68% of variation in math scores. Therefore, more attention should be paid to increasing teachers' concerns toward data meetings. Doing so can produce positive change for students who, because of improved math outcomes, will do better in school and in the employment market.

Relationship Between Teachers' Concerns Toward Data Meetings and Student

Achievement

by

Nelson Brown

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

June 2018

Dedication

To my lovely wife, Suzie, who is a continuous source of support and inspiration.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all of the faculty with whom I had the pleasure to work with during my study. Each member of my committee provided me with quality feedback and guidance during the process. I would especially like to thank the chairman of my committee, Dr. Markus Berndt. His gentle yet probing questioning led me to learn a great deal about research.

Thanks to my entire family for their love and encouragement. To my wife, Suzie, for her wisdom, support, and patience. She is the love of my life. To my three wonderful children, Nelson Jr., Kobe, and Branden, who provided me with purpose to persevere through my study. To my parents, Jimmie and Vivian Brown, for their example, sacrifice, and for always believing in me. I would also like to thank my two siblings, Jimmie Jr. and Loretta, for being models of what it takes to achieve a doctoral degree.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ. None of this is even remotely possible without Him. I am thankful for the strength and resources that He constantly provides. I am also grateful for the timely reminders that I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me.

List of Tables	iii
List of Figures	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	2
Purpose of the Study	3
Research Question and Hypotheses	4
Theoretical Framework	4
Nature of the Study	5
Definitions	5
Assumptions	6
Scope and Delimitations	6
Limitations	7
Significance	7
Summary	8
Chapter 2: Literature Review	9
Literature Search Strategy	10
Theoretical Foundation	10
Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable	11
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	

Table of Contents

Research Design and Rationale	30
Methodology	
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Archival Data	
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	
Data Analysis Plan	
Threats to Validity	
Ethical Procedures	
Summary	
Chapter 4: Reflections and Conclusions	40
Data Collection	40
Descriptive Statistics	41
Inferential Statistics	43
Summary	49
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	50
Interpretation of the Findings	50
Limitations of the Study	51
Recommendations	52
Implications	53
Conclusion	53
References	55

List of Tables

Table 1. Selected Descriptive Statistics, SoCQ	
Table 2. Correlation Matrix	

List of Figures

Figure 1. Scatterplot, change in STAR and SoCQ1 score	44
Figure 2. Scatterplot, change in STAR and SoCQ2 score	45
Figure 3. Scatterplot, change in STAR and SoCQ3 score	46
Figure 4. Scatterplot, change in STAR and SoCQ4 score	47
Figure 5. Scatterplot, change in STAR and SoCQ5 score	48
Figure 6. Scatterplot, change in STAR and SoCQ6 score	49

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In the state of Alabama, as in other national and global contexts, data meetings are a means for teachers, administrators, and other school personnel to determine how best to apply findings from data analysis to new pedagogical and curricular practices (Bolhuis, Schildkamp, & Voogt, 2016; Johnson, Severance, Penuel, & Leary, 2016; Robinson, Myran, Strauss, & Reed, 2014). Data meetings are designed to identify strong and weak points in academic practices, typically on the basis of data analysis from past standardized tests (Bohuis et al., 2016). For data meetings to be successful, the individuals who participate in such meetings must be able to understand, feel positively towards, and act upon change directives and other guidance emerging from data meetings (Bolhuis et al., 2016).

In Alabama, data meetings are particularly relevant in the context of reading and mathematics improvement (Atkinson, 2015). The Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) demands high levels of reading and mathematics performance from students. Alabama educators obtain substantial data from standardized test results which are the foundation of data meetings designed to guide pedagogical and curricular changes, which in turn are designed to improve students' performance on standardized tests (Atkinson, 2015). To understand data meetings' potential to improve student performance, it is necessary to understand the extent to which stakeholders who participate in such meetings can understand, feel positively towards, and act upon change management directives emerging from data meetings (Bolhuis et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2014). However, there is no existing organizational or academic research that addresses the way stakeholders from Alabama react to data meetings. The following sections of this chapter concentrate on the literature about data meeting participants' feelings toward and actions resulting from data meetings. I will provide background information

that presents reasons to answer questions pertaining to the extent to which data meeting participants understand, feel positively towards, and act upon change management that emerges from data meetings, as well as the relationship between participants' responses toward data meetings and changes in standardized test scores.

Background

Data meetings take place when schools wish to apply the results of data analysis to change the pedagogy, curricula, and other aspects of academic practice (Spillane, 2012). Data meetings are commonplace, especially after the passage of the No Child Left Behind law, which tied federal funding of public schools to baseline levels of performance and improvement in standardized testing (Lee & Reeves, 2012). The success of data meetings is tied to how participants in such meetings think, act, and feel (Bolhuis et al., 2016). Specifically, attendants at data meetings need to understand, feel positively towards, and act upon change management outcomes emerging from data meetings. If, in fact, data meeting participants achieve these objectives, then the hypothesized result is an improvement in the standardized testing results from students (Bolhuis et al., 2016). Data meetings are designed to identify strong and weak points in academic practices, typically on the basis of data analysis from past standardized tests (Crone, Carlson, & Haack, 2016). However, data meetings are only as effective as the sum of actions taken by data meeting participants. It is important to be able to quantify the extent to which participants' responses toward data meetings are correlated to changes in standardized test scores (Spillane, 2012).

Problem Statement

The problem addressed in the study is that data regarding the relationship between teachers' concerns toward data meetings and student performance has not been collected and analyzed in the local school district. Using data in instructional decisions can lead to improved student performance (Bolhuis et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2016; Robinson et al., 2014). However, policymakers and educational leaders in the state of Alabama cannot arrive at justifiable conclusions about the relationship between teachers' concerns toward data meetings and student performance. Thus, school leaders' absence of knowledge within this local school district related to whether participants' responses towards data meetings are positively correlated with standardized test performance has important implications for educational practice and policy in Alabama.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this correlational study is to measure the relationship between teachers' concerns towards data meetings and changes in student performance in mathematics as measured by the change in test scores on the Standardized Test for the Assessment of Reading (STAR) from 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 in a North Alabama school. The independent variable of the study is teachers' concerns about data meetings as reflected in the Stages of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ). The stages in SoCQ are as follows:

Unconcerned: The teacher has little concern or involvement with data meetings.

Informational: There is a general awareness and interest in learning more about data meetings.

Personal: The teacher is uncertain about the demands of data meetings,

Management: A focus on processes, tasks, and management of data meetings are most important to this teacher.

Consequence: A teacher's focus is on how data meetings impact students in immediate sphere of influence.

Collaboration: The teacher is interested in coordinating and cooperating with others regarding the use of data meetings.

Refocusing: A teacher desires to explore ways to reap universal benefits and make changes to data meetings.

The dependent variable of the study is change in students' mathematics standardized test scores on the STAR assessment. Data for the study was collected from a single school within the North Alabama School System (NASS). The data received from both 7th and 8th grades, which are the two grade levels at the school.

Research Question and Hypotheses

RQ: What is the relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and students' change scores on the STAR math assessment from the 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 school years?

Ho: There is no statistically significant relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment.

H_A: There is a statistically significant relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment.

Theoretical Framework for the Study

The theoretical foundation of the study is Astin's student engagement theory, in which the level of teacher engagement correlates positively with the level of student engagement (Astin, 1984). High levels of concern about data meetings represent a type of teacher engagement, specifically as it relates to pedagogy, curriculum design, and classroom management (Marsh & Farrell, 2015). Therefore, Astin's theory supports the prediction that higher levels of concern regarding data meetings will correlate with positive change in students' math scores. A further discussion of the theory can be found in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

The study is quantitative, correlational, and cross-sectional in nature. The study is quantitative because answering its research questions requires mathematical analysis of objectively defined variables. The study is correlational because its variables preexist and represent naturally present relationships (Keppel, Saufley, & Tokunaga, 1992). The study is cross-sectional because all data were collected at a single point in time. The independent variable of the study is teachers' concerns about data meetings as reflected in the SoCQ (George, Hall, & Stiegelbauer, 2006). The dependent variable of the study is change in students' mathematics standardized test scores on the STAR math assessment. The archival data collected for this study included SoCQ scores from 53 teachers and STAR math test scores from 900 7th and 8th grade students over a 2-year period.

Definitions

Data meetings: Schools and districts are required to make pedagogical decisions based on data, not opinions. Student achievement data, formative assessment data, and other relevant data are central to planning, professional development, and program improvements. Data are readily available and transmitted in easy-to-understand formats. Teams of teachers have regular face-to-face meetings to analyze student work and other classroom data sources to inform instruction (Gassenheimer, 2013).

Instructional coaching: Teachers are provided with intensive and focused support for professional learning through dialogue, reflective practice, and feedback to ensure learning is transferred to practice in every classroom (Gassenheimer, 2013).

Professional development: The acquisition of skills and knowledge to help educators improve student learning, especially in a collective goal-oriented setting (Stock & Duncan, 2010).

Stages of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ): An assessment that gathers teachers' concerns about new programs or practices (Hall, Wallace, & Dossett, 1973).

STAR Test: A standardized student assessment program that measures students' math and reading achievement. STAR provides information to help teachers tailor instruction, monitor growth, and improve students' performance. This computer adaptive test provides accurate math and reading scores for students in grades 1 through 12 (Renaissance Learning, 2012).

Assumptions

Due to the ongoing work and collaboration among teachers, it is assumed that teachers were honest in their responses and took the time to reflect upon the issues from the data meeting even though there is a tendency to provide socially acceptable responses, especially in the context of one's own workplace (Creswell, 2015). Therefore, the assumption is that the provided SoCQ scores reflect the teachers' actual level of concerns.

Scope and Delimitations

This study will gather data solely from the teachers at a North Alabama school. Other schools were not considered because they are not implementing data meetings in the same manner as the local school. This type of study may not be relevant to other schools due to their various goals, designs, and needs. The unique and specific nature of this school's implementation of data meetings provides the crucial delimitation regarding instructional goals.

Limitations

The variable STAR change score is a student measure, therefore, the SoCQ scores for a teacher are compared with students of their entire class. The subjective element of teacher response may also be a limitation since the study does aim at a quantitative evaluation of teacher and instructional development. However, this limitation is recognized as a necessary feature of this type of investigation (Creswell, 2012). Another limitation of the study is that confounding variables are only partially controlled by using change scores; however, there are many factors that influence student success that are difficult to measure and control in the analysis, such as student home environment, learning ability, and strengths. In relation to student home environment, it is possible that if the student has preoccupations (such as the parents are separating/divorcing, family illness/death, and/or a new sibling), he or she may not perform as well as expected. In relation to student learning ability, the results do not consider if the student receives special help, such as resources or special education. Finally, in relation to student strengths, the study does not consider if a student excels in one subject, yet struggles in another. All of these can influence the STAR test scores, which may influence the overall results of the study.

Significance

Answering the research questions of this study can inform educational leaders and policymakers in Alabama regarding the degree to which data meetings are achieving their intended purpose of facilitating improvements in student performance on standardized mathematics tests. Obtaining this information can assist leaders in determining whether data meetings need to be altered or retained in their current structure and approach. Taking such actions can assist educational leaders and policymakers in achieving the goal of achieving and maintaining a minimum performance standard among students. Even more, potential positive social change could be an outcome of informing teachers about the importance of embracing the use of student test score data to help their students learn. Doing so can produce positive change for students who, because of improved math outcomes, will have necessary skills to perform better in school and in the employment market.

Summary

The purpose of this correlational study is to measure the relationship between teachers' concerns towards data meetings and student performance in mathematics as measured by the change in test scores on the STAR from 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 in a North Alabama school. Many initiatives and programs have been implemented in schools across the nation to deal with the lack of student achievement. However, there is no apparent research within this local school district relating the relationship of teachers' concerns toward the use of test score data via data meetings to increase student achievement. Astin (1984) suggested that higher levels of concerns will correlate with positive changes in students' STAR scores. Testing this hypothesis is the main objective of the study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Before addressing whether data meetings are effective, I will review theoretical and current research in this chapter. This literature review encompasses distinct sections to help facilitate a thorough understanding of key topics and concepts related to the study purpose. More than one type of approach exists for constructing a doctoral level literature review. Thus, early identification of the organization strategy for the literature review is important to provide clarity and focus (Klein & Rozs, 2010; Torraco, 2005). The current study involves a culmination of phenomena related to professional development and school data analysis strategies, mathematics achievement, and instructional coaching practices.

The literature review strategy follows a thematic approach that parallels each of the aforementioned content areas. Teacher attitudes at data meetings and the relationship of those concerns with student achievement is the primary focus of my study. Following discussion of the literature review structure, I review theoretical findings and conceptual frameworks pertinent to the study. I will analyze studies that collectively involve key content areas, but also incorporate studies that focus on each content area individually. Specifically, research involving data meetings and how schools use these meetings is worthy of analysis, as are studies that focus on mathematics achievement and existing educational practices in schools. Instructional coaching practices and various models of instructional coaching also exist independently from data meeting strategies and mathematics achievement in the extant literature. Therefore, I examined all three content areas as cohesive and independent phenomena within the literature framework. I conclude with an examination of potential evaluation strategies to retrieve teacher attitudes related to data meetings.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted a thorough review of available research in books, library databases, and online sources. Primary search terms in the ERIC database were: *Data meetings, coaching, math, instruction,* and *partnering*. Although significant amounts of information related to instructional coaching, not much related to the term *instructional partnering*. Hence, this literature review does not contain specific research on correlating data meetings with student performance, which directly relates to the problem and question of this study.

Theoretical Foundation

In the context of academic performance, the main claims of student engagement theory are that some autonomous components of academic performance exist, student engagement is one such component, and student engagement can be increased through appropriate changes in pedagogy, curricula, and classroom management (Atkins, 1984). As a theory, student engagement's applicability to the current study can be expressed regarding how concerns about data meetings are or not efficacious in terms of raising student scores. Shernoff, Csikszentmihalyi, Schneider, and Shernoff (2003) said that students spend more than one-third of their time in school passively attending to information that is presented to the entire class. More than half of their time is spent on independent work and 14% of students' time in class is spent on interactive activities, such as class discussions and group activities (Shernoff et al., 2003). These findings suggest that students are often in a passive state of learning and there are opportunities for engaging learning experiences.

Understood from the perspective of student engagement theory, data meetings are likely to be effective in raising student achievement. Data meetings motivate participants to understand, feel positively toward, and act on change management directives. A participant's commitment to

10

changed pedagogical, curricula, and classroom management practices improve student engagement.

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable

Mathematics Achievement and Assessment

Mathematical skills such as number sense, spatial awareness, patterning, and estimation are frequently incorporated and interconnected in daily life (Gersten et al., 2012). Early geometry experiences contribute to higher achievement in mathematics, improvement of writing skills, and increased IQ scores (Weiland & Yoshikawa, 2013). Developing mathematical skills will increase a student's confidence level; it also strengthens and helps to construct knowledge (Sarama, Lange, Clements, & Wolfe, 2012). In this sense, mathematics proficiency among students involves not only performance in mathematics, but also in language and literacy (Sarama et al., 2012). This is due to the fact that, for many students, neural links are created between mathematical strategy and linguistic strategy, because different instructional methods can create different underlying neural pathways to mathematical knowledge, dependent on the student and the instructor (Sarama et al., 2012). Intentional practices should be developed by educators to determine ways to develop neural links between math and other content strategies.

Given these findings, mathematics is a universal cognitive skill set that needs to be developed to stimulate other areas of development, which include language, science, and music (Georgiou, Manolitsis, Zhang, Parrila, & Nurmi, 2013). The relationship between mathematics and other forms of learning can be reciprocal (Cobb & Jackson, 2011; Verdine et al., 2014). The priming of neural networks that process spatial information in the brain is proximal to mathematics (Verdine et al., 2014). This means that the practice of mathematics and the repetition of mathematics tasks can begin to increase the strength of neural networks that may also be used in other academic pursuits (Alloway & Passolunghi, 2011; Verdine et al., 2014). Therefore, math practice can have a holistic benefit to a student's educational performance.

Although the study of mathematics is enhanced by early exposure to its concepts, students are always capable of learning new information because of the brain's plasticity (Voss, Vivar, Kramer, & van Praag, 2013). Three key school-based factors that can affect student learning of mathematics are instructor quality, collaborative culture, and tracking student learning (Bonner, 2014; Bonner & Adams, 2012). In addition, external factors affect student achievement in mathematics such as socioeconomic factors, education level of parents, and the challenging home lives of some students (Hutto, Kirchhoff, & Abrahamson, 2015; Murayama, Pekrun, Lichtenfeld, & vom Hofe, 2013; Siegler et al., 2012; Tucker-Drob & Harden, 2012). However, there are also internal factors that affect student achievement, such as lack of motivation, cognitive, and metacognitive abilities (Clement, 2016).

Cobb and Jackson (2011) suggested that student achievement in math is affected by the inability of states to respond effectively to the mandates of the curriculum in developing highquality standards and assessments that address the needs of all students. Assessments that many states have developed are not well aligned with their own standards, and many students are prone to fall behind (Cobb & Jackson, 2011). Furthermore, it is challenging to ensure that sufficient instructors qualify for supporting students with specific educational needs (including math anxiety), which adversely affects schools. Finally, widespread disagreement exists regarding whether traditional assessment, alternative assessment, or both forms of assessment ought to be used (Ashcraft & Moore, 2009; Glynn, 2012; Salvia, Ysseldyke, & Bolt, 2012). Direction and cohesiveness is needed from educators to have a positive effect on student achievement. Scholars examine mathematics curricula, which are the bases of mathematics assessment, in two ways. One is to consider the content of the curriculum, and the other is to examine the method behind the content. Kaplan and Kaplan (2007) pointed out that mere content has come to outweigh method in math teaching: "It's as if a teacher of English were to give a phonebook to students who enjoy reading. The action and learning is in the method, or what Kaplan and Kaplan (2007) referred to as steps that make math meaningful, not in the rote list of things that students need to be able to do.

In U.S. math education, the idea that math should be about exploration of concepts rather than practicing problems was defeated in the early 1900s. Dewey (1909) said to "treat laws as *logical* tools and weapons and their wonderful value becomes self-evident. Otherwise laws are metaphysical puzzles" (p. 292). With the success and wholesale adoption of Dewey's philosophy of education came the birth of the word problem, whose purpose was to help students situate mathematical concepts in the context of everyday life. This happened for a brief time in the 1950s, when the U.S. was frightened that the Soviet space launch would be an indicator of Soviet supremacy in math and science. U.S. schools experimented with the so-called New Math, an attempt to introduce students precisely to those metaphysical puzzles (such as set theory) on which math is built (Herrera & Owens, 2001). Thus, New Math was born out of competition involving the space race.

The New Math was rejected for a number of reasons, with Kline (1973) summing up the conventional wisdom as follows: "The new mathematics is taught to elementary and high school students who will ultimately enter into the full variety of professions, businesses, technical jobs, and trades, or become primarily wives and mothers" (p. 56). This was essentially a reassertion of Dewey's position that science and math should be taught as practical, not theoretical, subjects. If

most elementary school students would not go on to "use" math in the way mathematicians would, the argument went, the curriculum should prepare them for practical applications. In the early 20th century, a math curriculum could include many materials designed to cover basic space calculation (e.g., how many bales of hay might fit in a barn) because many students were expected to be farmers (Kline, 1973). Today, the notion of practicality has changed, but the impulse to keep math relevant is still prevalent (Bonner, 2014). This search for relevancy is driving schools to seek ways to expose students to math that is relatable in their communities.

Attempts to improve young learners' academic performance in one subject or another are useful for multiple reasons. Grassroots studies led by faculty members and school administrators are crucial for enacting change and driving progress in elementary and secondary schools' performance (Perry, 2014). However, in some cases, school, district, or state-led pilot studies may generate incomplete findings or produce semi-effective results without knowing why the results are lacking in reliability or validity (Oolbekkink-Marchand, van der Steen, & Nijveldt, 2014). Nonetheless, these efforts assist in shedding light on pervasive issues and potential academic improvement strategies worthy of further investigation. If juxtaposed and assimilated into a meaningful framework or information set, metadata and findings from multiple studies can be amalgamated into the collective capacity building that highlights stubborn educational issues (Mincu, 2015). Moreover, cross-analyzing data collected from more than one type of stakeholder group could help uncover perceptual biases or illuminate trends that would otherwise be invisible within the scope of a single study.

Improving student achievement in mathematics involves multiple layers of strategies, thoughts, and processes to be considered (Lai & Hwang, 2016). Continuous efforts to find

positive solutions should be embraced. One approach to improving math achievement is to conduct data meetings as part of school professional development.

Data Meetings

In data meetings, teachers use data to better understand and improve student performance. According to Hutto et al. (2015), one of the main reasons that data meetings are effective is that they allow teachers to apply tracking and other means of addressing student problems. Tracking is the process whereby students are dividing into categories so that they can be assigned to groups of various kinds of classes (Hutto et al., 2015). In time, students who are identified, through data meetings, as being remedial can become more anxious about their performance (Reeves, 2006). Anxious students can confound assessment, because anxiety interferes with the validity of testing results (Siegler et al., 2012). Thus, student anxiety is a factor that must be considered when viewing data.

Blackwell, Galassi, Galassi, & Watson(1985) documented how data meetings allowed teachers to reach the conclusion that students were more anxious when confronted with a form of mathematics assessment in which they had to list the thoughts related to the test. The same students, when asked to think aloud with reference to the test items, reported less anxiety. One theoretical explanation of this phenomenon is that, when students feel that there is a narrow scope for performance (e.g., identifying a right answer in a multiple-choice test), they lose self-efficacy if they have any doubt about the answer. On the other hand, based on Blackwell et al.'s findings, it seems theoretically possible that the kind of open-ended exercises that are typically part of alternative assessments allow students to pursue their own trains of thought and thus present a wider scope for self-efficacy. Thus, self-efficacy is an important theme, because, in numerous data meetings, it has found to be an important predictor of student performance

(Tschannen-Moran & McMaster, 2009). A student's self-efficacy cannot be ignored when discussing academic performance.

The reason that self-efficacy is so prominent in discussions of data meetings and mathematics performance is the ongoing scholarly controversy regarding the extent to which traditional assessment truly measures mathematics skill (Tschannen-Moran & McMaster, 2009). Bandura (1997) argued that the construct of skill is not as clear-cut as it might appear, because there are cases in which people possess a skill but cannot, usually due to a lack of self-efficacy. Typically, people lack self-efficacy either because (a) they do not believe they are capable of doing something, whether on the basis of previous evidence (e.g., trying and failing) or a negative self-concept (Tschannen-Moran & McMaster, 2009) or (b) they are particularly sensitive to performance-impeding stress (Liew et al., 2014). Therefore, results of a math assessment may not always be an absolute indicator of the skills students possess.

Thus, within the context of data meetings, teachers have found extensive theoretical as well as empirical support for the claim that mathematics testing is not a perfect measure of skill. The validity of mathematical testing is challenged by the fact that, for many people, performance is not actually an accurate measure of skill, because of the confounding effect of psychological variables such as self-efficacy, self-concept, and anxiety (Carmichael et al., 2010; Galla & Wood, 2012; Hoffman, 2010; Tariq et al., 2013; Usher & Pajares, 2009). Based on this theoretical background, a pertinent question is whether alternative assessment is a more accurate measurement of mathematical skill than traditional assessment. This question is important within the context of data meetings, which are oriented toward generating results and applying changes based on the results of assessment (Bonner, 2014). It is important to ensure the assessment if valid prior to making instructional changes.

Documented findings of data meetings with respect to performance improvement.

According to numerous articles on data meetings (Baki, Kosa, & Guven, 2011; Bouck, Satsangi, Doughty, & Courtney, 2014; Carbonneau, Marley, & Selig, 2013; Moyer-Packenham, Salkind, Bolyard, & Suh, 2013; Moyer-Packenham & Suh, 2012; Moyer-Packenham & Westenskow, 2013), data meetings have allowed teachers to learn the usefulness of manipulatives as a strategy for helping students learn mathematics. This method helps with explaining the why of the concept (Baki et al., 2011; Carbonneau et al., 2013; Moyer-Packenham & Westenskow, 2013). Engaging students in math exercises with manipulatives increases their mathematical understanding (Bouck et al., 2014; Carbonneau et al., 2013). Teachers also gain insight into students' cognitive representations by observing their actions on manipulatives (Baki et al., 2011). Using the manipulatives and having the students talk with peers about a concept enables them to retrieve and retain that knowledge (Baki et al., 2011; Bouck et al., 2014). Manipulatives are thus used as a means of improving performance for all levels of students and can contribute to providing a cure for students' anxiety about mathematics (Baki et al., 2011; Bouck et al., 2014; Carbonneau et al., 2013). These findings about manipulatives have arisen from data meetings and therefore provide a specific explanation of how and why data meetings could help teachers to improve student performance in mathematics.

Data meetings have also helped teachers identify how learning within and with social contexts through cooperative learning is another strategy for helping students to improve math performance through a reduction in math anxiety (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012; Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery, Chappell, & Arnold, 2013; Zakaria, Solfitri, Daud, & Abidin, 2013). Cooperative learning is the placement of students in small groups so that they can work together to maximize learning by sharing their own knowledge (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012;

Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery et al., 2013; Zakaria et al., 2013). Students who work in groups experience three features that enhance their cognitive reorganization of mathematics. First, the group experience forces the students to examine their own beliefs and strategies (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012; Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery et al., 2013; Zakaria et al., 2013). Second, the group can collectively use their prior knowledge, skills, and connections to help a student in the group who has a difficult time making a connection or grasping an understanding of the concept (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012; Kyndt et al., 2012; Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery et al., 2013; Zakaria et al., 2013). Third, the group experience benefits the student in that it introduces new problemsolving approaches and helps students to participate more fully in learning the topic and its applications (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012; Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery et al., 2013; Zakaria et al., 2013). These findings about cooperative learning have arisen from data meetings and therefore provide a specific explanation of how and why data meetings could help teachers to improve student performance in mathematics.

As a whole, students' motivation for learning is often higher in small-groups because it is a comfortable environment where the student can complete a task with others rather than by working individually (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012; Dworkin & Larson, 2006; Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery et al., 2013; Zakaria et al., 2013). Students achieve in a cooperative learning environment because they see various stages of mastery of cognitive tasks and receive peer support and assistance (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012; Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery et al., 2013; Zakaria et al., 2013). Students working together enjoy the experience and feel accepted by their peers who allow them to believe that they are successful academically (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012; Kyndt et al., 2013; Nunnery et al., 2013; Zakaria et al., 2013). This is a perception that increases their self-esteem over the long term. Cognitive behavioral techniques have been shown to have a positive impact on performance anxiety (Galla & Wood, 2012; Green et al., 2012; Tariq et al., 2013). Students who experience a high level of anxiety when they perform certain tasks are more likely to worry about making mistakes and therefore failing at their academic work (Galla & Wood, 2012; Green et al., 2012; Tariq et al., 2013). This may be connected with the fact that instrumental learning situations can create expectancies that some behaviors will lead to specific outcomes (Galla & Wood, 2012; Green et al., 2012; Tariq et al., 2013). By practicing behaviors which balance out the challenges of performance anxiety, a young person can become more resilient, and then reflect upon that resilience in order to balance out the negative thoughts that have dominated their academic performance in the past (Galla & Wood, 2012; Green et al., 2012; Tariq et al., 2013). These practices can be identified and discussed during data meetings.

Data meetings have also allowed teachers to identify other methods of improving student performance. One such finding arising from data meetings is that students are often able to solve performance anxiety problems on their own through emotion-focused and problem-focused coping techniques, linked to learning theory, rather than via the support of an adult leader such as an instructor, linked to cognitive behavioral techniques (Dworkin & Larson, 2006). In some performance anxiety situations, youth were able to focus better on solving their psychological challenges if they set aside the advice of their instructor. As Dworkin and Larson (2006) wrote, "by confronting an emotion or solving the problem that created the negative experience, youth sometimes learned a great deal. The experience provided the material for developmental change and learning" (p. 12). What this means is that the remedy for math anxiety, according to these authors, is often grounded in experiential learning that leads to personal development. Data meetings allowed teachers to understand the relevance of experiential learning and related

strategies, thus providing a specific explanation of how and why data meetings could help teachers to improve student performance in mathematics.

Reeves and Burt (2006) found that data meetings have a usefulness that goes beyond the measures outlined above. Teachers' workday and responsibilities need restructuring to gain the skills required to become problem solvers. Significant and targeted professional development on data collection and use are necessary for teachers and administrators (Reeves & Burt, 2006). Teachers must move from simply teaching the material and giving a grade, to finding out how much each student has learned and identifying what is necessary to improve students' skill levels (Bianco, 2010). It is then necessary to provide instruction and progress monitoring (Bianco, 2010). Teacher developments in these areas are critical in order to provide students with deeper learning.

There is an understanding that data use is an expectation in schools. However, teachers often lack the professional development associated with reflecting and evaluating assessment results (Young & Kim, 2010). This need is particularly evident among middle and high school teachers (Leithwood & Louis, 2012). To improve data use, Wayman, Jimerson, and Cho (2010) created a project called The Data-Informed District. Educators in the Data-Informed District are characterized by integration and collaboration and are trained at adapting their practices appropriately by relying on their professional judgment (Wayman et al., 2010). It is important to note that not all efforts that lead to an increase in effective data use are formal in nature. Informal interactions can be especially critical when it comes to the implementation of new approaches (Spillane, 2012). These observations can lead to school dialogue that provokes improved procedures or strategies. Staff interaction can often result in routines for data use in

practice as well (Spillane, 2012). There is not a scripted process that will benefit all educators in every school setting.

More than a few information sharing and collaboration strategies exist for teachers and administrators to choose from when determining how to implement professional development meetings. Creighton (2007) encourages teachers to approach meetings socially and openly because discussions regarding research findings and data do not have to be excessively complicated. Be that as it may, teachers have historically expressed concerns about incorporating educational performance data into their classroom strategies, despite being open-minded to the idea (Ingram, Louis, & Schroeder, 2004). Marsh and Farrell (2015) contend that, although nowadays more accountability systems exist to corroborate student learning, teachers remain unaware and lack confidence regarding how to extrapolate meaning from data or act on it.

Teachers may perceive the prospect of developing quantitative research and data analysis skills as an undertaking that is too daunting. Likewise, having already completed one or more levels of formal education, teachers may not be as familiar with the professional development of self-guided learning opportunities as a viable methodology for gaining new knowledge., to the contrary, Vygotsky (1934/1987) in his seminal work contends that adult learners are uniquely capable of engaging in cognitive self-regulation processes that allow them to form a linkage between diverse types of subject matter. Adults engaging in self-regulation become conscientiously aware of their role as both a facilitator and learner. Also, while dually regulating their functions as learner-facilitators, adult learners simultaneously monitor their learning using social queues from other stakeholders in their environment (Gredler, 2009). Thus, in examining the use of data sets and teachers' willingness to become more familiar with data, it becomes

lifetime (Furtak, Morrison, & Kroog, 2014). This understanding by teachers will allow them to better facilitate the learning of their students.

A thorough understanding of data and how to use it can equip teachers with knowing the academic needs of students. Having this knowledge and skill set can lead to teachers' confidence in making informed decisions regarding instruction practices. A teacher's growth with developing an understanding of how to best use data can be supported by an appropriate instructional coaching theory (Teemant, 2014). An instructional approach that is grounded in theory will provide a substantive pathway to assist students.

Data Meetings' Contributions to Instructional Coaching Theory

During the 1980s and 1990s, coaching had limited implementation in schools. Federal Title I funding provided reading specialist to work directly with students that struggled particularly in the area of reading. The Elementary and Secondary Act of 2000 updated the Title I legislation and placed emphasis on reading materials and instructional practices. The further legislation provided funding for the position of coach (Denton & Hasbrouck, 2009). Hartnett-Edwards (2011) stated that the purpose of literacy coaches is to raise student achievement by increasing teachers' skills.

Teachers are on a variety of levels. High performing teachers believe that learning is not static, and they make adjustments in their classrooms as needed on an annual, monthly, or even daily basis. On the other hand, low performing schools usually have teachers with a high level of teacher-directed activity giving students little opportunity to lead the class in any way (Peabody, 2011). Whether high performing or low performing, teachers need support in the form of an instructional partner or coach. A good reading coach knows a lot of strategies and best practices. However, before sharing plans, a good coach must first establish the trust to meet

the teacher's needs (Hartnett-Edwards, 2011). A study conducted by Coburn and Woulfin (2012), helped to provide evidence of a link between coaching and change in teachers' classroom practice. This study took place over a two-year period with 40 interviews and observations of teachers and reading coaches involved with implementing a new policy called Reading First. This comprehensive initiative was part of the No Child Left Behind legislation and required schools to implement core reading programs, assessments, and professional development based on reading research (U.S. Department of Education, 2002). The Reading First communication or messages were communicated to teachers from a variety of sources: state and district professional development, state monitors, the textbook, and their principal, among others. Reading coaches were only involved in 28% of the 192 messages that teachers encountered. However, the study found that teachers were more likely to accommodate the Reading First approaches when coaches were involved in presenting or reinforcing the Reading First messages. Coaches not only helped teachers make changes in their practice related to the new policy, but coaches also helped influence teachers' responses to the system.

The coaches provided advice on how to integrate instructional approaches, provided oneon-one assistance with instructional planning, assisted teachers with organizing the reading block, helped teachers rearrange the classroom, and assisted teachers to push past their first, more superficial responses. This allowed teachers to move toward deeper forms of implementation. (Coburn & Woulfin, 2012, p. 18)

Changes in teacher practice are often desirable, but an increase in student learning is the ultimate goal of educators. Atteberry and Bryk (2011) highlight three connections that must take place to link instructional coaching to student learning:

• the coach must establish relationships with her school-based professional developer

- teachers must regularly participate in the professional development provided by the coach
- the participation must result in desired changes in teacher practice.

Models for training reading coaches have been developed to include a heavy emphasis on building relationships with teachers (Hartnett-Edwards, 2011). In a study conducted by Chester (2012), academic staff completed a two to three-hour training session that introduced the fundamental principles of peer partnerships. Stage one is the preparation stage, which includes training. This stage also includes the pairing and briefing of partners and is also when attitudes toward and concern of the initiative should be uncovered and resolved. Stage two is where the observation itself takes place. The third stage is feedback and reflection. This includes written and face-to-face feedback. Planning is the fourth stage. During this stage, the participant thinks about the changes that are needed to be made and create a plan to enact those changes. The final stage is action. The plan is implemented, and data is collected to determine the effectiveness of the changes implemented. The staff then engaged in cross-disciplinary peer partnerships to reflect and improve teaching quality. The results from the teachers that completed the survey were very positive with 18 out of 24 answering positively about the confidence within their partner and themselves. There was a high level of agreement that the program provided benefits such as reflection, increasing self-efficacy and building relationships (Chester, 2012). Teachers were particularly motivated to partner with other teachers from the same discipline rather than cross-curricular partnerships (Chester, 2012). Gathering this teacher input is helpful in developing appropriate instructional coaching strategies.

Denton & Hasbrouck (2009) explains various types of coaching that can take place in schools. Technical coaching is used to coach teachers to gain new instructional strategies and to implement programs with fidelity. Collaborative problem-solving coaching focuses on

equipping teachers with skills to solve problems such as struggling readers or a student's off-task behaviors. Another type of coaching is called reflective practice coaching. This kind of coaching prompts colleagues to engage in reflective practices after implementing an instructional activity or after reading professional literature. Reflective practice coaching is also known as cognitive coaching. Team-building coaching is when a coach provides support to a team rather than with individual teachers. Teams are developed and supported by a community of learners focusing on common goals (Ke & Im, 2014). Schools can implement one or a combination of coaching methods that will help achieve their goals.

The Partnership Network has elements of each of the coaching mentioned above types. However, Student-Focused Coaching is most closely aligned with the Network. In Student-Focused Coaching, the role of the coach is involved in three primary activities: assisting and supporting the work of teachers, providing professional development services and systematically addressing school-based concerns (Denton & Hasbrouck, 2009). Partnership principles such as teacher voice and choice (Knight, 2011) can be embedded into all three of these activities.

The Instructional Partner (IP) model, which was born out of the Instructional Partnership Network, is of particular importance due to the background of many IPs in this district. Many IPs have experience in literacy coaching. The shift to now working with math and other content area teachers presents a need to tap into existing teacher expertise through partnering. Rather than content specific training, the IP receives training on strategies to help adult learner with transitioning through models such as Kegan's (1994) evolutionary consciousness theory.

Effective instructional coaching can assist teachers to grow in ways that best meet the needs of students. However, implementing a new program, like other innovations, has some
hurdles (Teemant, Leland, & Berghoff, 2014). One of which is how the implementers perceive the program.

Educational Innovation

It can be difficult to implement an educational innovation (Hall Wallace & Dossett, 1973). Extensive experience indicates that when evidence-based programs are attempted by a new organization, in a new setting, or by the new staff, they are not automatically reproduced or replicated with the quality intended by the program developers (Durlak, 2013). As an example, benefits demonstrated by students receiving programs associated with higher quality implementation were compared to those participating in programs that were implemented with poorer quality (Durlak, Weissberg, Dymnicki, Taylor, & Schellinger, 2011). The students that received the higher quality implementation showed academic gains that were twice as high as the latter group. The students in the better-implemented programs also showed a reduction in emotional distress that was more than double the reduction demonstrated by the latter group. Effective implementation can lead to larger gains for youth in several important domains of adjustment (Durlak, 2013). While the initial implementation of an innovation is important, it is also important to continue to assess the effectiveness of the innovation even after it is implemented.

When implementing a new program, procedure, or initiative in schools, it is important to evaluate its effectiveness especially concerning the people that execute the program (Cooper et al., 2014). The core questions related to implementation research are: "What is happening?" "Is it what is expected or desired?" and "Why is it happening as it is?" The Concerns-Based Adoption Model (CBAM), born out of the work of Frances Fuller (1969) and later developed by Hall and Hord (1987) provides techniques to help analyze and evaluate a newly implemented

program. CBAM has three primary dimensions – Self, Task, and Impact Stages. Innovation Configurations gives the big picture of what is included in the innovation. This viewpoint helps everyone involved to see what the goals are but at the same time is grouped in such a way that the steps can be taken in manageable increments. The Stages of Concern dimension gathers information related to the concerns of people implementing the innovation (Hall, Wallace, & Dossett, 1973). An originally developed 7-stage, 35-item Concerns Based Adoption Model suggested that educators in the change process would typically fall into one of seven stages of concerns: unconcerned, informational, personal, management, consequence, collaboration, and refocusing. They are called stages because there is usually developmental movement through them where particular concerns may rise and then subside when another concern emerges. Bailey and Palsha (1992) proposed a 5-stage, 35-item model that was found to be a more psychometrically consistent framework for conceptualizing needs. Shotsberger and Crawford (1996) later developed a five stage and 27-item model leading to higher reliability estimates.

The stages individuals progress through as outlined in the CBAM model are similar to the small group stages that teams often go through as pointed out by Bruce Tuckman's research. Tuckman (1965), states that groups progress through the stages of forming – orienting to the task, storming – intragroup conflict, norming – opinions expressed and new roles developed, performing – group energy directed to the task, and adjourning – termination and self-evaluation.

Fullan (2011) stated that the mixture of high expectations, relentless but supportive leadership, good standards, and assessment, investments in capacity building, transparency of results and practice is what produces better results, and better accountability. Furthermore, the concept of policy and strategy levers that has the least and best chance of driving successful reform as drivers (p. 4).

Fullan (2011) pointed out four main wrong drivers along with their matched alternatives: accountability vs. capacity building, individual teacher quality vs. group solutions, technology vs. instruction, and fragmented strategies vs. systemic strategies. Fullan states that in addition to leveraging instructional capacity, purposeful collaboration serves as the most efficient form of lateral accountability. When combined with transparency of results, the structure of educators working together fosters both collective ownership of educational practice and accountability to the public (Han & Newell, 2014). Teachers ability to see these connections will enhance the success of the innovation.

Successful adoption of innovations rests on the teachers' understanding and interpretation of the value of such innovations to facilitate and enhance their students' educational experiences (Avendano, Barrera-Osorio, Nieto-Parra, & Vever, 2016). Complex concerns must be considered before an innovation spreads to a larger scale. It is critical that educators have the opportunity to communicate and consider various viewpoints which can help resolve any potential concerns (Hall & Hord, 2011). Gathering these concerns in an intentional, structured manner will allow for clarity on specific concerns.

For this study, the SoCQ would best capture the math teachers' concerns as related to data meetings. This questionnaire is part of a well-respected and reliable CBAM tool that has been used with federally sponsored research projects, dissertation research, evaluations, and many change programs (George et al., 2006). Understanding teacher change is an ongoing focus for teacher development which leads to student learning.

Summary and Conclusions

The literature clearly points to many factors that can lead to an increased student achievement. Effective, ongoing professional development and a teacher's efficacy are critical to assisting students to make adequate academic gains. However, there is a gap in research related to gathering teacher attitudes related to data meetings. Data meetings are not as common in secondary school settings, and it is not common practice for teachers to give feedback on the implementation or practice of data meetings. Chapter 3 describes how this study fills the research gap by finding out the concerns of teachers and how those concerns are related to student achievement.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this correlational study is to measure the relationship between teachers' concerns regarding data meetings and students' performance in mathematics as measured by the gain scores on the STAR standardized test. The following sections of this chapter will describe the research method in greater detail and include research design and rationale, methodology, archival data, instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, data analysis plan, threats to validity, and ethical procedures.

Research Design and Rationale

The design for this study was correlational. Teachers' stages of concern (as measured on the SoCQ instrument) and changes in students' math STAR scores were variables in the study. The remainder of the chapter offers further details on the implementation of the correlational design.

Methodology

Population

The population for the study consisted of 900 students and 53 certified teachers from one school in the local district that participated in the data meetings. Seven are first-year teachers, 14 have been teaching between 2-10 years, 8 have been teaching between 10-15 years, 22 of the teachers have been teaching for more than 15 years, and two are national board-certified teachers with 25 years teaching experience. All of the teachers and students are contained in one school building.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The archival data collected for this study included the entire population of 900 7th and 8th grade students who had two consecutive years of designated STAR math test scores from the 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 school years. Originally there were 937 students, however, 37 students were not included in the study because they did not have the test scores over the two-year period. Teacher data were collected from 53 full time 7th and 8th grade core and elective faculty members who attended data meetings in a 2 year period. It is not known if any teachers were absent from a meeting, which might skew results.

An *a priori* study with linear regression as the chosen procedure was executed in G*Power software. The standard inputs of a 0.30 effect size, 0.05 Alpha, and 0.80 Power were selected. As there was reason to assume a positive correlation, the level of significance was designated as two-tailed rather than one-tailed. Based on these inputs, G*Power calculated an *a priori* sample size requirement of N = 53 teachers for a linear regression based on correlation, which is the number of teachers in the study.

Archival Data

School district administrators collect student test score data and conduct the data meetings. Having received Walden University IRB approval #05-26-17-0185955, and school district approval, my access to de-identified data was on a secondary basis. The data meeting, which is a requirement of the school district, is used in this study as a basis to gather the teachers' responses to the online SoCQ required by the district administration.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

District administration collected teachers' concerns about data meeting innovations with an online version of the SoCQ. The reported Cronbach's alpha of the scale of each of the seven stages of concern has a range from .64 - .83, indicating that it is sufficiently reliable for other researchers to use. SoCQ provides a way to understand how people develop through the stages of an innovation, and it is a suitable method for addressing the professional development aspect of this study.

The SoCQ has an ordinal scale but the mean is calculated as it is assumed that the intervals between the different ratings are equal (Creswell, 2012). The SoCQ provides a score per stage. The teachers rated each of the 35 items on a scale of 0-7 based upon the descriptors very true of me now (6-7), somewhat true of me now (3-5), not true of me now (1-2), irrelevant (0). The use of the score ranges is due to the degree of agreement with a particular descriptor. Scoring for the SoCQ was calculated by district administration. The scoring key partitions items according to the seven stages of concern inherent in the concerns design. Each of the stages of concern has five questions. These stages are as follows: (a) Unconcerned (the teacher has little concern or involvement with data meetings), (b) Informational (there is a general awareness and interest in learning more about data meetings), (c) Personal (the teacher is uncertain about the demands of data meetings), (d) management (a focus on processes, tasks, and management of data meetings that are most important to this teacher), (e) consequence (a teacher's focus on how data meetings impact students in immediate sphere of influence), (f) Collaboration (the teacher is interested in coordinating and cooperating with others regarding the use of data meetings), and (g) Refocusing (a teacher desires to explore ways to reap universal benefits and making changes to data meetings) (Southwest Educational Development Laboratory, 2014). Each teacher will have a score on each scale.

The students' STAR math test scores were also used in the data analysis. STAR is a standardized test for students in grades 1-12. The reliability by grade range from .78 - .88, with a median of .85 (Renaissance Learning, 2012).

Data Analysis Plan

The research questions and related hypotheses are as follows:

RQ: Is there a statistically significant positive relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment from the 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 school years?

Ho: There is no statistically significant positive relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment.

HA: There is a statistically significant positive relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment.

The questionnaire data from the instrument were organized in an Excel file. The quantitative data resulting from the questionnaire instrument as well as the STAR data was then input into the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for analysis. Ordinary least squares regression p value testing was used to test the hypotheses; ordinary least squares regression is a specific technique for linear regression based on correlation regardless of the number of independent variables (Balnaves & Caputi, 2012). Pearson correlation regression coefficient p value testing was used to test the hypotheses based on the STAR and SoCQ data.

Stage 0. First, descriptive statistics were collected for stage 0 of the SoCQ. Stage 0 consisted of responses to the following statements:

1. I am more concerned about another innovation.

2. I am not concerned about data meetings at this time.

- 3. I am preoccupied with things other than data meetings.
- 4. I spend little time thinking about data meetings.
- 5. Other priorities currently prevent me from focusing my attention on data meetings. Thus, stage 0 was the lowest ranked stage of concern pertinent to data meetings; higher scores on stage 0 indicated teachers who were generally unready for data meetings.

Stage 1. Next, descriptive statistics were collected for stage 1 of the SoCQ. Stage 1 consisted of responses to the following statements:

- 1. I have a very limited knowledge of data meetings.
- 2. I would like to discuss the possibility of using data meetings.
- I would like to know what resources are available if we decide to adopt data meetings.
- 4. I would like to know what the use of data meetings will require in the immediate future.
- 5. I would like to know how data meetings is better than what we have now. Thus, stage 1 was the second-lowest ranked stage of concern pertinent to data meetings; higher scores on stage 1 indicated teachers who were generally unready for data meetings, although at a higher conceptual state of readiness than that represented by stage 0.

Stage 2. Next, descriptive statistics were collected for stage 2 of the SoCQ. Stage 2 consisted of responses to the following statements:

- 1. I would like to know the effect of reorganization on my professional status.
- 2. I would like to know who will make the decisions in the new system.

- 3. I would like to know how my teaching or administration is supposed to change.
- 4. I would like to have more information on time and energy commitments required by data meetings.
- 5. I would like to know how my role will change when I am using data meetings. Thus, stage 2 was the third-lowest ranked stage of concern pertinent to data meetings; higher scores on stage 2 indicated teachers who were generally unready for data meetings, although at a higher conceptual state of readiness than that represented by stages 0 and 1.

Stage 3. Next, descriptive statistics were collected for stage 3 of the SoCQ. Stage 3 consisted of responses to the following statements:

- 1. I am concerned about not having enough time to organize myself each day.
- 2. I am concerned about conflict between my interests and my responsibilities.
- 3. I am concerned about my inability to manage all the data meetings require.
- I am concerned about time spent working with nonacademic problems related to data meetings.
- 5. Coordination of tasks and people is taking too much of my time.

Thus, stage 3 was the fourth-lowest ranked stage of concern pertinent to data meetings; higher scores on stage 3 indicated teachers who were generally unready for data meetings, although at a higher conceptual state of readiness than that represented by stages 0, 1, and 2.

Stage 4. Next, descriptive statistics were collected for stage 4 of the SoCQ. Stage 4 consisted of responses to the following statements:

1. I am concerned about students' attitudes toward data meetings.

- 2. I am concerned about how data meetings affect students.
- 3. I am concerned about evaluating my impact on students.
- 4. I would like to excite my students about their part in data meetings.
- I would like to use feedback from students to change the data meetings.
 Stage 4 differed from stages 0-3 in that stage 4 represented a state of readiness more so than a state of unreadiness, albeit not as high a state of readiness as that represented by stages 5 and 6.

Stage 5. Next, descriptive statistics were collected for stage 5 of the SoCQ. Stage 5 consisted of responses to the following statements:

- 1. I would like to help other faculty in their use of data meetings.
- 2. I would like to develop working relationships with both our faculty and outside faculty using data meetings.
- I would like to familiarize other departments or people with the progress of data meetings.
- 4. I would like to coordinate my effort with others to maximize the data meetings' effects.
- 5. I would like to know what other faculty are doing in this area.

Stage 5 differed from stages 0-3 in that stage 5 represented a state of readiness more so than a state of unreadiness, albeit not as high a state of readiness as that represented by stage 6, but higher than the state of readiness represented by stage 4.

Stage 6. Next, descriptive statistics were collected for stage 6 of the SoCQ. Stage 6 consisted of responses to the following statements:

1. I now know of some other approaches that might work better.

- 2. I am concerned about revising my use of data meetings.
- 3. I would like to revise the data meetings' instructional approach.
- I would like to modify our use of the data meetings based on the experiences of our students.
- 5. I would like to determine how to supplement, enhance, or replace data meetings. Stage 6 differed from stages 0-3 in that stage 6 represented a state of readiness more so than a state of unreadiness; indeed, conceptually, stage 6 went beyond readiness and encompassed so much ease with the innovation that participants are looking past it to improvements and revisions.

Overall, the score interpretations for the 7 stages of SoCQ can be summarized as follows: Stage 0: High scores mean that the individual has little concern about, or involvement with an innovation; low scores indicate that an individual has higher concern about, or involvement with an innovation.

Stage 1: High scores indicate higher awareness of, and interest in, an innovation. Low scores indicate lower awareness of, and interest in, an innovation.

Stage 2: High scores indicate higher certainty about the personal and professional demands of an innovation. Low scores indicate lower certainty about the personal and professional demands of an innovation.

Stage 3: High scores indicate higher focus on the processes and tasks involved with an innovation. Low scores indicate lower focus on the processes and tasks involved with an innovation.

Stage 4: High scores indicate higher focus on the consequences of an innovation. Low scores indicate lower focus on the consequences of an innovation.

Stage 5: High scores indicate higher focus on collaboration related to an innovation. Low scores indicate lower focus on the collaboration related to an innovation.

Stage 6: High scores indicate higher focus on improving or replacing an innovation. Low scores indicate lower focus on improving or replacing an innovation.

Threats to Validity

Since data meetings in schools are not part of a scripted program, schools have flexibility and choice in deciding on goals, direction, and approach. The approach of this study would be limited for comparative purposes because schools are at different levels or focus on different areas related to their particular needs. This threat to external population validity will be addressed by not generalizing the results to other districts.

A threat to internal validity is the possibility of student gains on STAR due to maturation. To address this threat, a robustness test will regress teacher concern on same-semester STAR scores. This regression may reveal a relationship that cannot be measured if the dependent variable is change in achievement.

Ethical Procedures

The school district collects both the SoCQ and STAR data. They provide the deidentified data to me as secondary data. I am the principal at the school where data meetings take place. However, the data meetings are planned, organized, and conducted upon school district request. Ethical considerations for this study include receiving permission from the school district administration to access the de-identified SoCQ and STAR data that is needed for analysis. In addition, Walden University Institutional Review Board IRB approval was requested prior to proceeding with any data analysis (Walden University IRB approval number: 05-26-17-0185955). I will make certain that any data received is appropriately stored in a secure atmosphere, and the data will be analyzed according to principles of fairness and integrity, as outlined in quantitative research methods. Upon completion of the data analysis, the SoCQ and STAR data will be returned to district administration.

Summary

An analysis of archived SoCQ and STAR data to seek the relationship between teacher attitudes about data meetings and student gain scores in math may serve as a step in addressing the local problem. Chapter 4 will discuss the results of this analysis. This knowledge has the potential to assist policy-makers and educational leaders with decisions regarding the effectiveness of data meetings.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this correlational study was to measure the relationship between teachers' concerns about data meetings and students' performance in mathematics as measured by the change scores on the STAR standardized test in a North Alabama school. The independent variable of the study was teachers' concerns about data meetings as reflected in the SoCQ. The dependent variable of the study was change in students' mathematics standardized test scores on the STAR assessment. Data for the study were collected from a single school within the NASS. The research question of the study was as follows: What is the relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and students' change scores on the STAR math assessment? The null hypothesis was that there is no statistically significant relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment. The alternative hypothesis was that there is a statistically significant relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment. The alternative hypothesis was that there is a statistically significant relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment. The alternative hypothesis was that there is a statistically significant relationship between teachers' SoCQ scores and student change scores on the STAR math assessment. In the remainder of this chapter, I discuss the data collection and results of the study.

Data Collection

Data pertaining to concerns about data meetings were collected from 53 teachers over a period of time from May 2017 to June 2017. There were no discrepancies in data collection from the plan presented in Chapter 3. No descriptive or demographic details were collected for the sample. As the sample was drawn from a single school, the results are unlikely to generalize beyond the school itself. Single-year test scores were used as covariates in the design of the study.

The results have been divided into two sections. First is the descriptive statistics and second is the inferential statistics pertinent to the research questions. These two sections provide detailed quantitative data for the study.

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics were calculated for one variable, the SoCQ score, measured at seven stages (stages 0 through 6). There are two ways of treating SoCQ scores: As raw scores and as percentiles. Because the purpose of this study was to measure the relationship between SoCQ scores and STAR scores in a specific practice setting, only the raw scores for SoCQ were used.

In this study, the magnitude of scores was determined by two means. First, mean and standard deviation were calculated as measures of central tendency. Second, any values +3 standard deviations of the mean were designated as outliers. Because no values were beyond +3 standard deviations of the mean, there were no outliers. Table 1 contains selected descriptive statistics for the SoCQ scores.

Table 1

SoCQ Scores

Item	N	М	SD	95% Confi	95% Confidence Interval		
				Lower	Upper		
					Bound		
SoCQ0	53	15.37	6.24	13.66	17.09		
SoCQ1	53	13.87	5.10	12.46	15.27		
SoCQ2	53	17.77	7.18	15.80	19.75		
SoCQ3	53	15.09	6.51	13.30	16.89		
SoCQ4	53	15.56	6.78	13.69	17.43		
SoCQ5	53	16.96	6.16	15.26	18.67		
SoCQ6	53	16.13	6.67	14.29	17.97		

The other variable for which data were collected was STAR scores. This variable was operationalized as change in STAR score. The range for this variable was from -13 to 45 (M = 25.74, SD = 9.91). Therefore, the average increase in STAR score was close to 26 points.

The first procedure was to calculate Pearson's r coefficients for each of the variable pairs in the study because the r values measured the strength of the association between stages of concern and changes in students' STAR scores. Table 2 contains the Pearson correlation matrix.

Table 2

Correlation Matrix

	SoCQ0	SoCQ1	SoCQ2	SoCQ3	SoCQ4	SoCQ5	SoCQ6
SoCQ0							
SoCQ1	.18						
SoCQ2	.38*	.50*					
SoCQ3	.46*	.28*	.50*				
SoCQ4	.06	.38*	.44*	.20			
SoCQ5	04	.64*	.46*	.28*	.65*		
SoCQ6	.14	.46*	.46*	.47*	.56*	.71*	
STAR	.15	.47*	.51*	.39*	.50*	.70*	.79*

*Statistically significant at p < .05

Six of the seven SoCQ measures were significantly correlated with change in STAR score. Each of these significant correlations had a positive r value. The conceptual explanation of these correlations is as follows:

Stage 0: Teachers with little concern about or involvement with data meetings did not have students with significant changes in STAR scores (r = .15, p > .10).

Stage 1: Teachers with higher awareness of and interest in data meetings had students with improved STAR scores (r = .47, p < .05).

Stage 2: Teachers who had higher certainty about the personal and professional demands of data meetings had students with improved STAR scores (r = .51, p < .05).

Stage 3: Teachers who had higher focus on the processes and tasks involved with data meetings had students with improved STAR scores (r = .398, p < .05).

Stage 4: Teachers with higher focus on the consequences of data meetings had students with improved STAR scores (r = .50, p < .05).

Stage 5: Teachers with higher focus on collaboration related to data meetings had students with improved STAR scores (r = .70, p < .05).

Stage 6: Teachers with higher focus on improving or replacing data meetings had students with improved STAR scores (r = .79, p < .05).

Inferential Statistics

Next, OLS regressions were carried out for each of the six significant correlations. The only stage that did not have a significant correlation was SoCQ0. The regression of STAR score change on SoCQ0 was not significant, with F(1,51) = 1.16, p = .29.

The regression of STAR score change on SoCQ1 was significant, with F(1,51) = 14.64, p < .001. Each one-unit increase in SoCQ1 was associated with a 0.917 unit increase in STAR score, SE = 0.24, t = 3.83, p < .001. The coefficient of determination of this model was .223, indicating that 22.3% of the variation in change of STAR scores could be explained through variation in SoCQ1 scores.



Figure 1. Scatterplot showing change in STAR and SoCQ1 score.

The regression of STAR score change on SoCQ2 was significant, with F(1,51) = 17.52, p < .001. Each one-unit increase in SoCQ2 was associated with a 0.700 unit increase in STAR score, SE = 0.17, t = 4.19, p < .001. The coefficient of determination of this model was .2556, indicating that 25.56% of the variation in change of STAR scores could be explained through variation in SoCQ2 scores.



Figure 2. Scatterplot showing change in STAR and SoCQ2 score.

The regression of STAR score change on SoCQ3 was significant, F(1,51) = 9.09, p < .004. Each one-unit increase in SoCQ3 was associated with a 0.592 unit increase in STAR score, SE = 0.20, t = 3.01, p < .004. The coefficient of determination of this model was .1512, indicating that 15.12% of the variation in change of STAR scores could be explained through variation in SoCQ3 scores.



Figure 3. Scatterplot showing change in STAR and SoCQ3 score.

The regression of STAR score change on SoCQ4 was significant, F(1,51) = 17.23, p < .001. Each one-unit increase in SoCQ4 was associated with a 0.734 unit increase in STAR score, SE = 0.18, t = 4.15, p < .001. The coefficient of determination of this model was .2525, indicating that 25.25% of the variation in change of STAR scores could be explained through variation in SoCQ4 scores.



Figure 4. Scatterplot showing change in STAR and SoCQ4 score.

The regression of STAR score change on SoCQ5 was significant, F(1,51) = 49.22, p < .001. Each one-unit increase in SoCQ5 was associated with a 1.127 unit increase in STAR score, SE = 0.16, t = 7.02, p < .001. The coefficient of determination of this model was .4911, indicating that 49.11% of the variation in change of STAR scores could be explained through variation in SoCQ5 scores.



Figure 5. Scatterplot showing change in STAR and SoCQ5 score.

The regression of STAR score change on SoCQ6 was significant, F(1,51) = 84.02, p < .001. Each one-unit increase in SoCQ6 was associated with a 1.173 unit increase in STAR score, SE = 0.13, t = 9.17, p < .001. The coefficient of determination of this model was .6223, indicating that 62.23% of the variation in change of STAR scores could be explained through variation in SoCQ6 scores.



Figure 6. Scatterplot showing change in STAR and SoCQ6 score.

Summary of Results

Overall, the results suggest that lower levels of readiness for data meetings are associated with lower STAR scores and that higher levels of readiness for data meetings are associated with increases in STAR scores. The r values and p values on the basis of which these conclusions have been reached were presented earlier in the study. On the basis of these findings, an appropriate discussion, conclusion, and recommendations have been provided in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The objectives of the discussion are to interpret the findings, acknowledge the limitations of the study, provide recommendations, discuss the implications of the study, and provide a summative conclusion. The nature of the study was quantitative and correlational, and the key finding was that lower levels of readiness for data meetings were associated with lower improvements in STAR scores, whereas higher levels of readiness for data meetings were associated with higher improvements in STAR scores. Therefore, being ready for data meetings does not influence student outcomes positively but being unready for data meetings influences student outcomes negatively. This finding strongly suggests the need to ensure that teachers are ready for data meetings.

Interpretation of Findings

The findings of the study suggested that the students of teachers who are relatively unready for innovative data meetings achieve lower year-over-year increases in STAR scores than the students of teachers who are relatively ready for innovative data meetings. This finding can be reached by observing that stages 0-3 of the SoCQ, all of which measure unreadiness more than readiness, are negatively correlated with changes in STAR score, whereas stages 4-6 of the SoCQ, all of which measure readiness, are positively correlated with changes in STAR score. This includes all significant and non-significant results.

The simplest interpretation of these findings is through those aspects of pedagogical theory that emphasize teacher readiness, creativity, and innovation with student success. More specifically, innovative data meetings are especially useful to teachers of mathematics because mathematics teachers are more than usually reliant on calibrating pedagogy to student strengths and weaknesses (Daneshamooz & Alamolhodaei, 2012). Although this study was not delimited

to mathematics teachers, the findings should be of particular interest to all teachers. The crucial role of data meetings is to equip teachers with the kind of customized and current feedback necessary to better engage students. The findings of this study appear to confirm that data meetings have this effect, insofar as teachers who were prepared for such meetings had more successful students.

Limitations of the Study

The study had several limitations. One limitation was the absence of covariates. Had teacher covariates been collected, it is possible that the possible effects, whether direct or indirect, of teacher experience, age, gender, and other factors could have been measured. The collection of such covariates would also have made it possible to determine whether certain teacher characteristics made it more likely for teachers to have a greater level of SoCQ readiness for data meetings. If, for example, it had been discovered that teachers with less experience were also less likely to be ready for data meetings, then this information could have informed recommendations about providing extra readiness resources to newer teachers. However, with the absence of covariates, these kinds of analyses could not be carried out, limiting the results of the study.

Another important limitation was that the STAR scores represented aggregate scores across entire classes. In effect, the level of analysis in the study was at the teacher/classroom level, not at the student level. The study was incapable of measuring how specific groups of students (for example, male students, female students, students of various races, and students of low or high GPAs) responded in the classes of mathematics teachers who reported higher or lower levels of SoCQ readiness. An additional limitation is that the specific teacher attendance at each data meeting is not known. Absenteeism could have skewed the results if one or more teachers missed data meetings. Also, the length of an absence causing consecutive data meetings to be missed could have skewed the results.

Recommendations

There are several recommendations that can be made on the basis of this study. One recommendation is for principals and other leaders to be more active in supporting readiness for data meetings. However, in light of the limitations of this correlational study, the more relevant recommendations are those that can inform future scholarly research and the generation of more precise and reliable scientific knowledge on the study topic.

Future researchers should consider a quasi-experimental approach in which the analysis is conducted at the individual student or the individual teacher level, rather than a broad classroom or school-wide level. When individuals constitute the level of analysis, it is possible for researchers to model the direct or indirect effects of covariates such as age, gender, race, and other variables that could generate important insights. For example, if future researchers chose teachers as their level of analysis, then the experience, age, gender, and other characteristics of teachers could be added to the model to explain what characteristic of teachers might make them more likely to have higher levels of readiness for data meetings or other innovations and what might mediate the relationship between teacher levels of readiness (treated as an independent variable) and student improvement on STAR (treated as a dependent variable).

Although students of mathematics teachers who are at high levels of readiness in the SoCQ as it pertained to data meetings appear to improve at a faster rate, it is not clear what the causal mechanism of these improvements might be. Further research is necessary to identify the possible mechanism. Qualitative ethnographic research based on a combination of observations, interviews, and other forms of longitudinal data collection could help to identify such mechanisms.

Implications

The main implication supported by the study's findings is that educational leaders ought to find a means of measuring and improving mathematics teachers' stages of concern related to innovative data meetings. If there is indeed a correlation between mathematics teachers' stages of concern related to innovative data meetings and students' improvement on tests such as STAR, then it is in the best interest of all stakeholders to ensure that teachers receive the kind of support needed to reach the higher levels of concern on instruments such as SoCQ. The positive social change implication of the finding is that, if it informs practice, it could lead to an improvement in students' academic outcomes and thereby their social outcomes. This can produce positive change for students to perform better in school and in their careers.

Conclusion

The purpose of this correlational study was to measure the relationship between teachers' concerns about data meetings and students' performance in mathematics as measured by the change scores on the STAR standardized test in a North Alabama school. The main finding of the study was that lower levels of readiness for innovative data meetings are associated with declines in STAR scores and that higher levels of readiness for innovative data meetings are associated with increases in STAR scores. Thus, it seems likely that teachers' readiness for data meetings is a factor in better performance of their students. Future quasi-experimental researchers acting upon the specific recommendations provided earlier in this chapter could better establish the magnitude of the relationship, if any, between the readiness of mathematics

teachers regarding innovations such as data meetings and student performance, the direct and indirect effects of teacher- and student-level covariates, and possible explanatory frameworks for a positive correlation between higher teacher levels of concern and student performance.

References

- Ahmed, W., Minnaert, A., Kuyper, H., & van der Werf, G. (2012). Reciprocal relationships between math self-concept and math anxiety. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 22(3), 385-389.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Process, 50, 179-211.
- Alabama Math, Science, and Technology Initiative. (2010). Overview of AMSTI. Retrieved from http://www.amsti.org/Portals/0/documents/Overview%20of%20AMSTI%2010_23_13.pd f
- Alabama Reading Initiative. (2013). The Alabama Reading Initiative (ARI). Retrieved from https://www.alsde.edu/sec/ari/History%20Documents/ARI%20Goals.pdf
- Alabama State Department of Education. (2011). Accountability reporting system. Retrieved from http://www03.alsde.edu/Accountability/Accountability.asp
- Alabama State Department of Education. (n.d.). Alabama reading and math test. Retrieved from https://docs.alsde.edu/documents/91/Alabama%20Reading%20and%20Mathematics%20 Test.pdf
- Alloway, T. P., & Passolunghi, M. C. (2011). The relationship between working memory, IQ, and mathematical skills in children. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *21*(1), 133-137.
- Arem, C. (2009). Conquering math anxiety. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Ashby, C., Burns, J., & Royle, J. (2014). All kids can be readers: The marriage of Reading First and inclusive education. *Theory Into Practice*, *53*(2), 98-105.

- Ashcraft, M. H., & Moore, A. M. (2009). Mathematics anxiety and the affective drop in performance. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 27(3), 197-205.
- Astin, A. W. (1984). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal* of College Student Development, 25, 297–308.
- Atkinson, B. M. (2015). Teachers' practices: Responding to governmentality in accountability testing policy. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 18(1), 34-60.
- Atteberry, A., & Bryk, A. (2011). Analyzing teacher participation in literacy coaching activities. *The Elementary School Journal*, *112*(2), 356-382.
- Author's District. (2012a). About author's district. Retrieved from http://www.author'sdistrict.k12.al.us/?PN=AboutUs
- Author's District. (2012b). Awards and recognitions. Retrieved from http://www.author'sdistrict.k12.al.us/?DivisionID=10244&ToggleSideNav=
- Author's District. (2012c). Strategic plan A vision for the future. Retrieved from http://data.author'sdistrict.k12.al.us/documents/About%20Us/Strategic%20Plan%202012 .pdf
- Author's District. (2011). Board summaries and minutes. Retrieved from http://data.author'sdistrict.k12.al.us/Documents/Archived/Board_Notes/Default.htm
- Avendano, R., Barrera-Osorio, F., Nieto-Parra, S., & Vever, F. (2016). Understanding student performance beyond traditional factors: Evidence from PISA 2012. OECD Development Centre Working Papers, 331, 1-50.

- Bailey, D., & Palsha, S. (1992). Qualities of the stages of concern questionnaire and implications for educational innovations. *Journal of Educational Research*, 85(4), 226-232.
- Baki, A., Kosa, T., & Guven, B. (2011). A comparative study of the effects of using dynamic geometry software and physical manipulatives on the spatial visualisation skills of preservice mathematics teachers. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 42(2), 291-310.
- Balnaves, M., & Caputi, P. (2012). *Introduction to quantitative research methods: An investigative approach*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy and mechanism in human agency. *American Psychologist*, *37*(2), 122-147.
- Barhoumi, C., & Bin Hasan Hamza Kabli, C. (2013). The improvement of lifelong learning in Saudi Arabian university from individual learning to social constructivist elearning environment based new educational technologies. *European Scientific Journal*, 9(13), 23-18.
- Berger, A. A. (2013). *Media and communication research methods: An introduction to qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Berger, J. (2010). Key concepts for understanding the work of Robert Kegan. Retrieved on from http://garveyberger.com/writing_files/Berger%20Kegan%20key%20concepts%202010.p

- Bernard, H. R., & Bernard, H. R. (2012). *Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kuchle, L. B., Edmonds R. Z., Danielson L. C., Peterson A., Riley-Tillman, T.
 C. (2015). The next big idea: A framework for integrated academic and behavioral intensive intervention. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 30, 150–158.
- Bianco, S. (2010). Improving student outcomes: Data-driven instruction and fidelity of implementation in a response to intervention (RTI) model. *Teaching Exceptional Children Plus*, 6(5), 2-13.
- Blackwell, R. T., Galassi, J. P., Galassi, M. D., & Watson, T. E. (1985). Are cognitive assessment methods equal? A comparison of think aloud and thought listing. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 9(4), 399-413.
- Blömeke, S., Hoth, J., Döhrmann, M., Busse, A., & Kaiser, G. (2015). Teacher change during induction: Development of beginning primary teachers' knowledge, beliefs and performance. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 13(2), 287-308.
- Boaler, J., & Staples, M. (2008). Creating mathematical futures through an equitable mathematics approach: The case of Railside School. *Teachers College Record*, *110*(3), 608–645.
- Bolhuis, E., Schildkamp, K., & Voogt, K., (2016). Data-based decision making in teams: Enablers and barriers. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 22(3), 213-233.

Bonner, E. P. (2014). Investigating practices of highly successful mathematics teachers of traditionally underserved students. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 86(3), 377-399. doi:10.1007/s10649-014-9533-7

- Bonner, E. P., & Adams, T. L. (2012). Culturally responsive teaching in the context of mathematics: a grounded theory case study. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 15(1), 25-38. doi:10.1007/s10857-011-9198-4
- Bouck, E. C., Satsangi, R., Doughty, T. T., & Courtney, W. T. (2014). Virtual and concrete manipulatives: A comparison of approaches for solving mathematics problems for students with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(1), 180-193.
- Brown, L. A., Craske, M. G., Wiley, J. F., Wolitzky-Taylor, K., Roy-Byrne, P., Sherbourne, C., .
 ... Bystritsky, A. (2014). Changes in self-efficacy and outcome expectancy. *Depression* and Anxiety, 31(8), 678-689. doi:10.1002/da.22256
- Carbonneau, K. J., Marley, S. C., & Selig, J. P. (2013). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of teaching mathematics with concrete manipulatives. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(2), 380-389.
- Carmichael, C., Callingham, R., Hay, I., & Watson, J. (2010). Statistical literacy in the middle school: The relationship between interest, self-efficacy and prior mathematics achievement. *Australian Journal of Educational & Developmental Psychology*, *10*, 83-93.
- Chester, A. (2012). Peer partnerships in teaching: Evaluation of a voluntary model of professional development in tertiary education. *Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *12*(2), 94-108.

Chu, T., & Chen, Y. (2016). With good we become good: Understanding e-learning adoption by theory of planned behavior and group influences. *Computers & Education*, 92, 37-52.

Chwalisz, K., Altmaier, E. M., & Russell, D. W. (1992). Causal attributions, self-efficacy cognitions, and coping with stress. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *11*(4), 377-400.

- Cincera, J. (2013). Experiential learning in education for sustainable development: Experiences from a Czech–Kazakh social learning program. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, 7(1), 23-37.
- Clement, L. (2016). External and internal barriers to studying can affect student success and retention in a Diverse Classroom. *Journal of Microbiology & Biology Education*, 17(3), 351-359.
- Cobb, P., & Jackson, K. (2011). Assessing the quality of the common core state standards for mathematics. *Educational Researcher*, 40(4), 183-185.
- Coburn, C. E., & Woulfin, S. L. (2012). Reading coaches and the relationship between policy and practice. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 47(1), 5-30.
- Cohen, J. (2013). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cooper, S., Grover, S., & Simon, B. (2014). Education: Building a virtual community of practice for k-12 cs teachers. Association for Computing Machinery. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(5), 39-41.

Creighton, T. B. (2007). Schools and data (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.

Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research. Boston: Pearson.

- Daneshamooz, S., & Alamolhodaei, H. (2012). Cooperative learning and academic hardiness on students' mathematical performance with different levels of mathematics anxiety.
 Educational Research, 3(3), 270-276.
- Davies, E., & Collins, R. (2015). Participation, self-esteem and self-concept in adolescent equestrian athletes. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, *11*(1), 47-53.
- Davies, M. B., & Hughes, N. (2014). *Doing a successful research project: Using qualitative or quantitative methods*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Denton, C. A., & Hasbrouck, J. (2009). A description of instructional coaching and its relationship to consultation. *Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 19(2), 150-175.
- Devine, M., Meyers, R., & Houssemand, C. (2013). How can Coaching Make a Positive Impact Within Educational Settings? *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *93*, 1382–1389.
- Dewey, J. (1909). Symposium on the purpose and organization of physics teaching in secondary schools. *School Science and Mathematics*, *9*(3), 291-292.
- Dewey, J. (1910). How we think. Boston, MA: D. C. Heath.
- Di Giunta, L., Alessandri, G., Gerbino, M., Kanacri, P. L., Zuffiano, A., & Caprara, G. V.
 (2013). The determinants of scholastic achievement: The contribution of personality traits, self-esteem, and academic self-efficacy. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 27, 102-108.
- Douglas, A. S. (2015). A new research agenda for teacher education: The value of a partnership approach to classroom-based research. *Teacher Education Advancement Network Journal*, 7(1), 3–13.
- Drago-Severson, E. (2012). *Helping educators grow: Stragegies and practices for leadership development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Dufour, R. & Fullan, M. (2013). *Cultures built to last: Systemic PLCs at work*. Bloomington: Solution Tree.
- Durlak, J. (2013). The importance of quality implementation for research, practice, and policy. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED541356.pdf.
- Durlak, J., Weissberg, R., Dymnicki, A., Taylor, R., & Schellinger, K. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, 82(1), 405-433.
- Dworkin, J., & Larson, R. (2006). Adolescents' negative experiences in organized youth activities. *Journal of Youth Development*, 1(3), 1-19.
- Elbaum, B., & Vaughn, S. (2001). School-based interventions to enhance the self-concept of students with learning disabilities: A meta-analysis. *The Elementary School Journal*, 101(3), 303-329.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*
 Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, *41*(4), 1149-1160.
- Field, A. (2005). *Discovering statistics using SPSS* (2nd Ed.). London, UK: Sage.
- Finn, D. (1989). Withdrawing from school. Review of Educational Research, 59, 117-142.
- Fisher, P., Dobbs-Oates, J., Doctoroff, G., & Arnold, D. (2012). Early math interest and the development of math skills. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *104*(3), 673-681
- Fullan, M. (2011). Choosing the wrong drivers for whole system reform. East Melbourne,Austrailia: Centre for Strategic Education.

- Fuller, F. F. (1969). Concerns of teachers: A developmental conceptualization. American Educational Research Journal, 6(2), 207-226.
- Fuller, F. F. & Brown, O. H. (1975). Becoming a teacher. In *Teacher Education 1973*, 74th Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education. Chicago, IL: National Society for the Study of Education.
- Furtak, E., Morrison, D., & Kroog, H. (2014). Investigating the link between learning progressions and classroom assessment. *Science Education*, 98(4), 640-673.
- Galla, B. M., & Wood, J. J. (2012). Emotional self-efficacy moderates anxiety-related impairments in math performance in elementary school-age youth. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 52(2), 118-122.
- Gassenheimer, C. (2016). *Instructional partners*. Retrieved from http://www.bestpracticescenter.org/instructional-partners-1
- Gassenheimer, C. (2013). *Informational meeting for instructional partner pilot*. Montgomery, AL: Alabama Best Practices Center.
- Gassenheimer, C. (2012). *Instructional partners pilot: A remarkable year*. Retrieved from http://www.bestpracticescenter.org/blog/instructional-partners-pilot-a-remarkable-year/
- Geary, D. C. (2011). Consequences, characteristics, and causes of mathematical learning disabilities and persistent low achievement in mathematics. *Journal of Developmental Behavior and Pediatrics*, 32(3), 250-263. doi:10.1097/DBP.0b013e318209edef.
- Geist, E. (2010). The anti-anxiety curriculum: Combating math anxiety in the classroom. Journal of Instructional Psychology, 37(1), 24.

- Georgiou, G. K., Manolitsis, G., Zhang, X., Parrila, R., & Nurmi, J.-E. (2013). Examining the developmental dynamics between achievement strategies and different literacy skills.
 International Journal of Behavioral Development, 37(3), 173-181.
- Gersten, R., Clarke, B., Jordan, N. C., Newman-Gonchar, R., Haymond, K., & Wilkins, C. (2012). Universal screening in mathematics for the primary grades: Beginnings of a research base. *Exceptional Children*, 78(4), 423-445.
- Gewertz, C. (2016). 'Deeper learning' approach linked to higher grad rates; "graduation advantage persists for students in deeper learning network high schools: Updated findings from the study of deeper learning: Opportunities and outcomes. *Education, Week*, *35*(24), 5-10.
- Glynn, S. M. (2012). International assessment: A Rasch model and teachers' evaluation of TIMSS science achievement items. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 49(10), 1321-1344.
- Goetz, T., Bieg, M., Lüdtke, O., Pekrun, R., & Hall, N. C. (2013). Do girls really experience more anxiety in mathematics? *Psychological Science*, *24*(10), 2079-2087.
- Goodwin, B. (2011). Simply better: Doing what matters most to change the odds for student success. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Gredler, M. E. (2009). Hiding in Plain Sight: The Stages of Mastery/Self-Regulation in Vygotsky's Cultural-Historical Theory. *Educational Psychologist*, 44(1), 1–19. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/00461520802616259</u>
- Green, J., Liem, G. A. D., Martin, A. J., Colmar, S., Marsh, H. W., & McInerney, D. (2012).
 Academic motivation, self-concept, engagement, and performance in high school: Key processes from a longitudinal perspective. *Journal of Adolescence*, 35(5), 1111-1122.

Groff, J. (2014). Expanding our "frames" of mind for education and the arts. *Harvard Educational Review*, 83(1), 15-39.

[Remove extra blank line]

- Gwaltney, C. J., Shiffman, S., Balabanis, M. H., & Paty, J. A. (2005). Dynamic self-efficacy and outcome expectancies: Prediction of smoking lapse and relapse. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *114*(4), 661-675. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.114.4.661
- Hackett, G., & Betz, N. (1989). An exploration of the mathematics self-efficacy/mathematics performance correspondence. *Journal of Research in Mathematics Education*, 20(3), 261-273.
- Hall, G. E., George, A. A., & Rutherford, W. A. (1986). Measuring Stages of Concern about the innovation: A manual for use of the SoC Questionnaire. Austin TX: Southwest Educational Development Laboratory.
- Hall, G. E., & Hord, S. M. (2011). *Implementing change: Patterns, principles, and potholes*. (3rd
 ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Hall, G. E., Wallace, Jr., R. D., & Dossett, W. A. (1973). A developmental conceptualization of the adoption process within education institutions. Austin, TX: Research and Development Center for Teacher Education, the University of Texas.
- Hall, G. W. (1973). A developmental conceptualization of the adoption process within educational institutions. Austin, TX: Research and Development Center for Teacher Education.
- Han, G., & Newell, J. (2014). Enhancing student learning in knowledge-based courses. *Journalism & Mass Communication Educator*, 69(2), 180-196.

Handal, B., & Herrington, A. (2003). Mathematics teachers' beliefs and curriculum reform. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*, 15(1), 59-69.

Hartnett-Edwards, K. (2011). Helping the adults learn. Educational Leadership, 69(2), 60-63.

- Hayes, H., & Embretson, S. E. (2013). The impact of personality and test conditions on mathematical test performance. *Applied Measurement in Education*, 26(2), 77-88.
- Herrera, T. A., & Owens, D. T. (2001). The" new new math"?: Two reform movements in mathematics education. *Theory Into Practice*, *40*(2), 84-92.
- Hoffman, B. (2010). "I think I can, but I'm afraid to try": The role of self-efficacy beliefs and mathematics anxiety in mathematics problem-solving efficiency. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 20(3), 276-283.
- Hornby, G., Gable, R., & Evans, W. (2013). Implementing evidence-based practice in education: What international literature reviews tell us and what they don't. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 57(3), 119-123.
- Hudson, A. (2016). Get them talking! using student-led book talks in the primary grades. *The Reading Teacher*, 70(2), 221.
- Hutchings, M., Scammell, J., & Quinney, A. (2013). Praxis and reflexivity for interprofessional education: towards an inclusive theoretical framework for learning. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 27(5), 358–366. http://doi.org/10.3109/13561820.2013.784729
- Hutto, D. D., Kirchhoff, M. D., & Abrahamson, D. (2015). The enactive roots of STEM: rethinking educational design in mathematics. *Educational Psychology Review*, 27(3), 371-389.

- Inadequate math and science teacher supply, ineffective evaluation and support policies. (2010). *TNTP*. Retrieved from http://tntp.org/news-and-press/view/inadequate-math-science-teacher-supply-ineffective-evaluation-support
- Ingram, D., Louis, K. S., & Schoeder, R. G. (2004). Accountability policies and teacher decision-making: Barriers to the use of data to improve practice. *Teachers College Record*, 106, 1258-1288.
- Institute of Education Sciences. (2009). Achievement effects of four early elementary school math curricula. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED504419.pdf
- Institute of Educational Sciences. (2012). *Effects of the Kentucky virtual schools' hybrid program* for algebra I on grade 9 student math achievement. Retrieved from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/appalachia/pdf/20124020.pdf
- Institute of Educational Sciences. (2012). Evaluation of the effectiveness of the Alabama math, science, and technology initiative (AMSTI). Retrieved from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/southeast/pdf/REL_20124008.pdf
- Jackson, M., Dyal, A., Wright, J., Bowden, L, & Austin, S. (2016). Effectiveness and necessity of reading coaches within elementary schools. *Reading Improvement*, 53(2), 75-86.
- Jackson, S. (2015). Research methods and statistics: A critical thinking approach. New York, NY: Cengage Learning.
- Jansen, B. R., Louwerse, J., Straatemeier, M., Van der Ven, S. H., Klinkenberg, S., & Van der Maas, H. L. (2013). The influence of experiencing success in math on math anxiety, perceived math competence, and math performance. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 24, 190-197.

Jeynes, W. (2012). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of different types of parental involvement programs for urban students. *Urban Education*, 47(4), 706-742. doi:10.1177/0042085912445643

- Johnson, R., Severance, S., Penuel, W. R., & Leary, H. (2016). Teachers, tasks, and tensions: Lessons from a research-practice partnership. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 19(2), 169-185.
- Kaplan, R., & Kaplan, E. (2007). *Out of the labyrinth: setting mathematics free*. New York NY: Oxford University Press US.
- Ke, F., & Im, T. (2014). A case study on collective cognition and operation in teambased computer game design by middle-school children. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 24(2), 187-201.
- Kearsley, G., & Shneiderman, B. (1998). Engagement theory: A framework for technologybased teaching and learning. *Educational Technology*, *38* (5), 20-23.
- Kegan, R. (1994). *In over our heads: The mental demands of modern life*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Keppel, G., Saufley, W. H., & Tokunaga, H. (1992). *Introduction to design and analysis*. New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Kline, M. (1973). *Why Johnny can't add: the failure of the new math*. New York, NY: St. Martin's Press.
- Knight, J. (2011). Unmistakable impact: A partnership approach for dramatically improving instruction. Thousand Oaks: Corwin.
- Kounenou, K., Roussos, P., & Yotsidi, V. (2014). Teacher training in technology based

on their Psychological characteristics: Methods of group formation and assessment. Procedia - *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *116*, 3536-3541.

- Kuo, Y.-C., Walker, A. E., Schroder, K. E., & Belland, B. R. (2014). Interaction, Internet selfefficacy, and self-regulated learning as predictors of student satisfaction in online education courses. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 20, 35-50.
- Kyndt, E., Raes, E., Lismont, B., Timmers, F., Cascallar, E., & Dochy, F. (2013). A metaanalysis of the effects of face-to-face cooperative learning. Do recent studies falsify or verify earlier findings? *Educational Research Review*, 10, 133-149.
- Lai, C., & Hwang, G. (2016). A self-regulated flipped classroom approach to improving students' learning performance in a mathematics course. *Computers & Education*, 100, 126-140.
- Lave, J. & Wenger, E. (1991). *Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation*. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Lee, J., & Reeves, T. (2012). Revisiting the impact of NCLB high-stakes school accountability, capacity, and resources state NAEP 1990–2009 reading and math achievement gaps and trends. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 34(2), 209-231.
- Leithwood, K., & Louis, K. (2012). *Linking leadership to student learning*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lembke, E. S., Hampton, D., & Beyers, S. J. (2012). Response to intervention in mathematics: Critical elements. *Psychology in the Schools*, *49*(3), 257-272.
- Leppävirta, J. (2011). The impact of mathematics anxiety on the performance of students of Electromagnetics. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *100*(3), 424-443.

- Levpuscek, M., & Zupancic, M. (2009). Math achievement in early adolescence: The role of parental involvement, teachers' behavior, and students' motivational beliefs about math. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 29(4), 541-570.
- Liew, J., Lench, H. C., Kao, G., Yeh, Y.-C., & Kwok, O.-m. (2014). Avoidance temperament and social-evaluative threat in college students' math performance: a mediation model of math and test anxiety. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 27*(6), 650-661.
- Lu, Y., Zhou, T. & Wang, B. (2009). Exploring Chinese users' acceptance of instant messaging using the theory of planned behavior, the technology acceptance model, and the flow theory. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25, 29-39.
- Lyons, I. M., & Beilock, S. L. (2012). Mathematics anxiety: separating the math from the anxiety. *Cerebral Cortex*, 22(9), 2102-2110.
- Maddux, J. E., Sherer, M., & Rogers, R. W. (1982). Self-efficacy expectancy and outcome expectancy: Their relationship and their effects on behavioral intentions. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 6(2), 207-211.
- Maloney, E. A., & Beilock, S. L. (2012). Math anxiety: Who has it, why it develops, and how to guard against it. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, *16*(8), 404-406.
- Marsh, J. A., & Farrell, C. C. (2015). How leaders can support teachers with data-driven decision making: A framework for understanding capacity building. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 43(2), 269–289. http://doi.org/10.1177/1741143214537229
- McNatt, D. B., & Judge, T. A. (2004). Boundary conditions of the Galatea effect: A field experiment and constructive replication. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 47(4), 550-565.

- Mincu, M. E. (2015). Teacher quality and school improvement: What is the role of research? *Oxford Review of Education*, *41*, 253-270.
- Mishra, D., Akman, I., & Mishra, A. (2014). Theory of reasoned action application for green information technology acceptance. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *36*, 29-40.
- Motteram, G. (2014). Re-aligning research into teacher education for call and bringing it into the mainstream. *Language Teaching*, *47*(3), 319-331.
- Moyer-Packenham, P., Salkind, G., Bolyard, J., & Suh, J. M. (2013). Effective choices and practices: Knowledgeable and experienced teachers' uses of manipulatives to teach mathematics. *Online Journal of Education Research*, *2*(2), 18-33.
- Moyer-Packenham, P., & Suh, J. (2012). Learning mathematics with technology: The influence of virtual manipulatives on different achievement groups. *Journal of Computers in Mathematics and Science Teaching*, 31(1), 39-59.
- Moyer-Packenham, P., & Westenskow, A. (2013). Effects of virtual manipulatives on student achievement and mathematics learning. *International Journal of Virtual and Personal Learning Environments (IJVPLE)*, 4(3), 35-50.
- Murayama, K., Pekrun, R., Lichtenfeld, S., & vom Hofe, R. (2013). Predicting Long-Term Growth in Students' Mathematics Achievement: The Unique Contributions of Motivation and Cognitive Strategies. *Child Development*, 84(4), 1475-1490.
- Musoleno, R. &. (2010). Influences of high-stakes testing on middle school mission and practice. *National Middle School Association*, *34*(3), 1-10.
- Nathaniel, P., Schultz, B. K., & Draughn, J. D. (2015). Readying students to test: The influence of fear and efficacy appeals on anxiety and test performance. *School Psychology International*, 36(6), 620-637.

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2012). PISA 2012 results. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/surveys/pisa/pisa2012/
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2013). Trends in academic progress. *Institute of Education Sciences*. Retrieved from

http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/subject/publications/main2012/pdf/2013456.pdf

National Science Board. 2006. Science and engineering indicators 2006. Two volumes.

- Arlington, VA: National Science Foundation (volume 1, NSB 06-01; volume 2, NSB 06-1A).
- Newmann, F. M. (1989a). Student engagement and high school reform. *Educational Leadership*, 46, 34-36.
- Nunnery, J. A., Chappell, S., & Arnold, P. (2013). A meta-analysis of a cooperative learning models effects on student achievement in mathematics. *Cypriot Journal of Educational Sciences*, 8(1), 34-48.
- Ohlson, M. (2009). Examining instructional leadership: A study of school culture and teacher quality characteristics influencing student outcomes. *Florida Journal of Educational Administration & Policy*, 2(2), 102 -124.
- Oolbekkink-Marchand, H. W., van der Steen, J., & Nijveldt, M. (2014). A study of the quality of practitioner research in secondary education: impact on teacher and school development. *Educational Action Research*, 22(1), 122–139.

http://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2013.854175

Owens, M., Stevenson, J., Hadwin, J. A., & Norgate, R. (2012). Anxiety and depression in academic performance: An exploration of the mediating factors of worry and working memory. *School Psychology International*, 33(4), 433-449.

- Owens, M., Stevenson, J., Hadwin, J. A., & Norgate, R. (2014). When does anxiety help or hinder cognitive test performance? The role of working memory capacity. *British Journal* of Psychology, 105(1), 92-101.
- Pajares, F. (1996). Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings. *Review of Educational Research*, 66(4), 543-578. Doi missing https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543066004543

Park, E.comma & Kim, K. J. (2014). An integrated model of mobile cloud services:
 Exploration of key determinants and extension of technology acceptance model.
 Telematics and Informatics, *31*, 376-385. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2013.11.008.

- Peabody, D. (2011). Beliefs and instructional practices among secondary teachers within selected high- and low- performing high schools. *Florida Journal of Educational Administration* & *Policy*, 4(2), 181-192. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ931152.pdf
- Perry, J. A. (2014). Changing schools of education through grassroots faculty-led change. *Innovative Higher Education*, 39(2), 155-168. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10755-013-9267-y.no period!
- Piaget, J. (1968). Genetic Epistemology. Retrieved from http://www.marxists.org/reference/subject/philosophy/works/fr/piaget.htm
- Piaget, J. (1950). The psychology of intelligence. New York: Routledge.
- Prevatt, F., Welles, T. L., Li, H., & Proctor, B. (2010). The contribution of memory and anxiety to the math performance of college students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 25(1), 39-47.
- Public Affairs Research Council of Alabama. (2014). 2013 school system performance on the Alabama math and reading test. Retrieved from http://parcalabama.org/ 2013-schoolsystem-performance-on-the-alabama-math-and-reading-test/

- Ramirez, G., Chang, H., Maloney, E. A., Levine, S. C., & Beilock, S. L. (2016). On the relationship between math anxiety and math achievement in early elementary school: the role of problem solving strategies. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 141, 83-100.
- Ramirez, G., Gunderson, E. A., Levine, S. C., & Beilock, S. L. (2013). Math anxiety, working memory, and math achievement in early elementary school. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 14(2), 187-202.
- Ray, B., Faure, C., & Kelle, F. (2013). Using social impact games (sigs) to support constructivist learning: Creating a foundation for effective use in the secondary social studies education. *American Secondary Education*, 41(2), 60-70.
- Rebell, M., Lindseth, A., & Hanushek, E. A. (2009). Many schools are still inadequate, now what? *Education Next*, 9(4).
- Reeves, P. &. (2006). Challenges in data-based decision-making: Voices from principals. *Educational Horizons*, 85(1), 65-71.
- Renaissance Learning (2014). *STAR assessments: The science of star*. Retrieved from http://doc.renlearn.com/KMNet/R003957507GG2170.pdf.
- Rich, S. (2010). *Mercer Middle School case study: High science and math achievement*. Retrieved from

http://www.sbe.wa.gov/documents/Mercer%20Middle%20School%20Case%20Study.pdf

Robinson, J., Myran, S., Strauss, R., & Reed, W. (2014). The impact of an alternative professional development model on teacher practices in formative assessment and student learning. *Teacher Development 18(2)*, 141-162.

- Rollins, V. B., & Valdez, J. N. (2006). Perceived racism and career self-efficacy in African American adolescents. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *32*(2), 176-198.
- Rozas, L. W., & Klein, W. C. (2010). The value and purpose of the traditional qualitative literature review. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 7(5), 387-399. http://doi.org/10.1080/15433710903344116.
- Salvia, J., Ysseldyke, J., & Bolt, S. (2012). Assessment: In special and inclusive education. New York, NY: Cengage Learning.
- Sarama, J., Lange, A. A., Clements, D. H., & Wolfe, C. B. (2012). The impacts of an early mathematics curriculum on oral language and literacy. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 27(3), 489-502.
- Sarkar, A., Dowker, A., & Kadosh, R. C. (2014). Cognitive enhancement or cognitive cost: Trait-specific outcomes of brain stimulation in the case of mathematics anxiety. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(50), 16605-16610.
- Scott, W. D., & Dearing, E. (2012). A longitudinal study of self-efficacy and depressive symptoms in youth of a North American Plains tribe. *Development and Psychopathology*, 24(2), 607-622. doi:10.1017/S0954579412000193
- Shapiro, D. (2013). Collaborative faculty assessment of service-learning student work to improve student and faculty learning and course design. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 19(1), 44-57.
- Shernoff, D. J., Csikszentmihalyi, M. Schneider, B., & Shernoff, E. S. (2003). Student engagement in high school classrooms from the perspective of flow theory. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 18(2), 158-176. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/David Shernoff/publication/232520082 Student E

75

ngagement_in_High_School_Classrooms_from_the_Perspective_of_Flow_Theory/links/ 0c9605182c6817a4dc000000/Student-Engagement-in-High-School-Classrooms-fromthe-Perspective-of-Flow-Theory.pdf

- Siegler, R. S., Duncan, G. J., Davis-Kean, P. E., Duckworth, K., Claessens, A., Engel, M., Chen, M. (2012). Early predictors of high school mathematics achievement. *Psychological Science*, 23(7), 691-697.
- Shotsberger, P. G., & Crawford, A. R. (1996). An analysis of the validity and reliability of the concerns-based adoption model for teacher concerns in education reform. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED400278.pdf
- Southwest Educational Development Laboratory. (2014). *Concerns-based adoption model*. Retrieved from http://www.sedl.org/cbam
- Spillane, J. P. (2012). Data in practice: Conceptualizing the data-based decision-making phenomena. *American Journal of Education*, *118*(2), 113-141.
- Stock, M. & Duncan, H. (2010). Mentoring as a professional development strategy for instructional coaches: Who mentors the mentors? *Planning and Changing*, 41(1), 57-69.
- Steffens, M., Jelenee, P., & Noack, P. (2010). On the leaky math pipeline: Comparing implicit math-gender stereotypes and math withdrawal in female and male children and adolescents. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(4), 947-963.
- Stemhagen,K. (2011). Democracy and school math: Teacher belief-practice tensions and the problem of empirical research on educational aims. *Democracy & Education*, *19*(2) 1-13.
- Tallvid, M. (2016). Understanding teachers' reluctance to the pedagogical use of ict in the 1: 1 classroom. *Education and Information Technologies*, *21*(3), 503

- Tariq, V. N., Qualter, P., Roberts, S., Appleby, Y., & Barnes, L. (2013). Mathematical literacy in undergraduates: role of gender, emotional intelligence and emotional self-efficacy. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 44(8), 1143-1159.
- Taylor, H., & Reyes, H. (2012). Self-efficacy and resilience in baccalaureate nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, 9(1), 1-13.
- Teemant, A. (2014). A mixed-methods investigation of instructional coaching for teachers of diverse learners. *Urban Education*, *49*(5), 574-604.
- Teemant, A., Leland, C., & Berghoff, B. (2014). Development and validation of a measure of critical stance for instructional coaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 39, 136-147.
- Teo, T., Zhou, M., & Noyes, J. (2016). Teachers and technology: Development of an extended theory of planned behavior. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 64(6), 1033-1052.
- The White House. (n.d.). Education: Knowledge and skills for the jobs of the future. Retrieved from http://www.whitehouse.gov/issues/education/higher-education
- Torraco, R. J. (2005). Writing integrative literature reviews: Guidelines and examples. *Human Resource Development Review*, 4(3), 356–367.

Tschannen-Moran, M., & McMaster, P. (2009). Sources of self-efficacy: Four professional development formats and their relationships to self-efficacy and implementation of a new teaching strategy. *Elementary School Journal*, 110(2), 228-245.

- Tucker-Drob, E. M., & Harden, K. P. (2012). Learning motivation mediates gene-bysocioeconomic status interaction on mathematics achievement in early childhood. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 22(1), 37-45.
- Tuckman, B. (1965). Developmental sequence in small groups. *Psychological Bulletin*, 63(6), 384-399.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2002). Guidance for the reading first program. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/programs/readingfirst/guidance.pdf.
- Usher, E., & Pajares, F. (2009). Sources of self-efficacy in mathematics: A validation study.
 Contemporary Educational Psychology, *34*(1), 89-101.
 doi:10.1016/j.cedpsych.2008.09.002
- Verdine, B. N., Golinkoff, R. M., Hirsh-Pasek, K., Newcombe, N. S., Filipowicz, A. T., & Chang, A. (2014). Deconstructing building blocks: Preschoolers' spatial assembly performance relates to early mathematical skills. *Child Development*, 85(3), 1062-1076.
- Voss, M. W., Vivar, C., Kramer, A. F., & van Praag, H. (2013). Bridging animal and human models of exercise-induced brain plasticity. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 17(10), 525-544.
- Vukovic, R. K., Kieffer, M. J., Bailey, S. P., & Harari, R. R. (2013). Mathematics anxiety in young children: Concurrent and longitudinal associations with mathematical performance. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 38(1), 1-10.
- Walden University (2011). Research ethics FAQs for doctoral students in the field of education:Practical tips for avoiding delays and problems in the research approval process.Retrieved from

http://researchcenter.waldenu.edu/Search.htm?cx=007499281105655634226%3A_ovwns 865ya&cof=FORID%3A10&ie=UTF-8&q=Search&q=Research+ethics+FAQs

- Wallace, M. (2009). Making sense of the links: Professional development, teacher practices, and student achievement. *Teachers College Record*, *111*(2), 573-596.
- Walsh, J. & Sattes, B. (2010). Leading through quality questioning: Creating capacity, commitment, and community. Thousand Oaks: Corwin.
- Watts, T. W., Clements, D. H., Sarama, J., Wolfe, C. B., Spitler, M. E., & Bailey, D. H. (2016).
 Does early mathematics intervention change the processes underlying children's learning? *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*.
 doi:10.1080/19345747.2016.1204640.
- Wayman, J., Jimerson, J., & Cho, V. (2010). District policies for the effective use of student data http://edadmin.edb.utexas.edu/datause/papers/Wayman_Jimerson_Cho_District_Policies and Data Use.pdf
- Weiland, C., & Yoshikawa, H. (2013). Impacts of a prekindergarten program on children's mathematics, language, literacy, executive function, and emotional skills. *Child Development*, 84(6), 2112-2130.
- Welsh, M., & Dehler, G. (2013). Combining critical reflection and design thinking to develop integrative learners. *Journal of Management Education*, 37(6), 771-802.
- Williams, M. D., Rana, N. P., & Dwivedi, Y. K. (2014). The unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): A literature review. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(3), 443-488. doi:10.1108/JEIM-09-2014-0088.

Yeo, G. B., & Neal, A. (2006). An examination of the dynamic relationship between selfefficacy and performance across levels of analysis and levels of specificity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(5), 1088-1101. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.91.5.1088

Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Young, V., & Kim, D. (2010). Using assessments for instructional improvement: A literature review. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 18(19), 1-7.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society: *the development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1987). The problem and the method of investigation. In R. W. Rieber & A. S. Carton (Eds.), Collected works of L. S. Vygotsky: Vol. 1. Problems of general psychology (pp. 43–51). New York: Plenum. (Original work published 1934)
- Zakaria, E., Solfitri, T., Daud, Y., & Abidin, Z. Z. (2013). Effect of cooperative learning on secondary school students' mathematics achievement. *Creative Education*, 4(2), 98-100.